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Hon'ble Prime Minister of India, Shri Narendra Modi at the Launch of 
Global Biofuels Alliance during G-20 Summit at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi
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Hon'ble Prime Minister of India, Shri Narendra Modi at the 8th Governing Council Meeting  
of Niti Aayog at Bharat Mandapam

Shri Narendra Modi, Hon'ble Prime Minister at the International Museum Expo, 2023 at Bharat Mandapam
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Hon'ble PM, Shri Narendra Modi at Bharat Madapam on the occasion  of National Handloom Day

Hon'ble Minister of Commerce & Industry inaugurating the India International  Footwear Fair at Bharat Mandapam
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Dignitaries at Dias for the inauguration Ceremony of 42nd India International Trade Fair, 2023

A glimpse of the Odisha Pavilion at IITF, 2023
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Hon'ble Prime Minister  interacting with functionaries of G-20 Summit at  
Bharat Mandapam on 22nd September, 2023
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Hon'ble Union Minister of Commerce & Industry, Shri Piyush Goyal alongwith CMD,  
ITPO during World Food India, 2023.

Inauguration of India Pavilion by Shri Piyush Goyal, Hon'ble Union Minister of Commerce & Industry alongwith  
ED, ITPO and other Sr. Officicials of DoC at SIAL Food Fair, Toronto (Canada)
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ITPO OFFICES IN INDIA
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Chennai
Raja Annamalai Building, 2nd Floor,
18-A, Rukmani Lakshmipathi Road,
Egmore,
Chennai-600008
Tel.: 91-44-28554655/28587297/28415416
Fax : 91-44-28554740
E-mail: itpochn@md4.vsnl.net.in 
selvamd@itpo.gov.in

Kolkata
International Trade Facilitation Centre,
5th Floor, 1/1, Wood Street,
Kolkata-700016
Tel.: 91-33-22825820/22828269/48489906
Fax : 91-33-22828269
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Shri Pradeep Singh Kharola, CMD, ITPO administering the oath to ITPO's employees  
on the occasion of National Unity Day
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LADIES AND GENTLEMEN,

It is my privilege to welcome you all to the 47th Annual 

General Meeting of the India Trade Promotion Organisation 

(ITPO). As we gather here today, we reflect on a year of 

remarkable progress and accomplishments that continue 

to strengthen ITPO’s role as India’s leading trade promotion 

body.

It is a matter of immense pride for all of us that, since its 

inauguration by the Hon’ble Prime Minister of India, Bharat 

Mandapam has rapidly emerged as an iconic convention 

centre and the premier destination for hosting prestigious 

events. 

The Directors' Report, alongside the Audited Standalone 

and Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial 

year 2023-24, have been circulated, including the Statutory 

Auditor’s Report. With your permission, I shall take these as 

read. I am also pleased to note that the Comptroller and 

Auditor General (CAG) of India has provided “NIL” comments 

on the Annual Accounts for 2023-24, underscoring ITPO’s 

commitment to financial integrity and transparency.

1.	 RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS 

I am proud to share that the hosting of the G-20 Leaders' 

Summit at Bharat Mandapam Convention Centre marked 

a pivotal achievement for ITPO, firmly establishing it as a 

leading venue on the global MICE industry map. Bharat 

Mandapam has become the preferred destination for an 

impressive array of prestigious events, reflecting India’s 

growing stature in the global events ecosystem.

This past year alone, we have successfully hosted landmark 

events such as the Bharat Mobility Global Expo, Bharat Tex 

2024, and the Startup Mahakumbh 2024, showcasing India’s 

innovation and economic growth. In addition to these, the 

venue was also host to internationally renowned meeting, 

conventions and exhibitions, including Google for India, 

the New Delhi World Book Fair, Convergence India, FDCI 

X Lakme Fashion Week, IREE, India Mobile Congress, and 

World Food India and two rounds of the Miss World event. 

2.	 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

I am extremely satisfied to mention that during the year 

2023-24, your company achieved the highest ever total 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 47TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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income of Rs.670.38 crores against Rs. 430.92 crores 

generated in the previous year. This year your company 

has achieved a surplus of Rs.168.01 crores compared to 

Rs.229.99 crores in the previous year 2022-23. It is pertinent 

to mention that we have capitalized the IECC project for 

true and fair disclosure in the annual accounts. Loan 

repayment is being managed through internal resources 

to reduce both interest costs and the overall loan burden.

3.	 DOMESTIC FAIRS 

ITPO organized the 42nd edition of its flagship event, 

India International Trade Fair (IITF) in Hall Nos. 1 to 14 from 

November 14-27, 2023, at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi. 

This edition was the largest ever in the history of ITPO. 

The theme for this edition was "Vasudhaiva Kutumbakam- 

United by Trade." The fair was inaugurated on November 

14, 2023 by Smt. Anupriya Patel, Hon'ble Minister of State 

for Commerce and Industry and Shri. Som Prakash, Hon'ble 

Minister of State for Commerce and Industry, Government 

of India. The 2023 edition covered a gross exhibition area 

of 97,000 square meters and featured over 3,500 exhibitors 

from India and abroad. Bihar and Kerala were the 

partner states, with Delhi, Jammu & Kashmir, Jharkhand, 

Maharashtra, and Uttar Pradesh being the focus states.

A total of 47 central ministries, government departments, 

PSUs, PSBs, and commodity boards, along with 28 states 

and UTs, participated together around 3,000 constituent 

members. Additionally, more than 470 participants, 

including marquee companies, self-help groups, artisans, 

women, SC-ST entrepreneurs, start-ups, and 59 foreign 

entities from 12 countries (UAE, Afghanistan, Bangladesh, 

Oman, Egypt, Lebanon, Nepal, Thailand, Turkey, Iran, 

Tunisia, and Kyrgyzstan) took part in IITF. The fair attracted 

approximately one million visitors and hosted various 

State Day celebrations, seminars, workshops, and cultural 

programs. A total of 23 foreign delegations from 19 

countries also visited the fair.

ITPO organized the maiden "Atmanirbhar Bharat Utsav" 

from January 3-10, 2024 at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi 

in Hall No. 1-6. Dr. Subrahmanyam Jaishankar, Hon'ble 

Minister of External Affairs and Shri Piyush Goyal, Hon'ble 

Minister of Commerce and Industry, Government of India 

inaugurated the fair on January 3, 2024. The fair was 

organized in a gross exhibition area of approximately 

42,000 sqm, with the participation of 1371 exhibitors. This 

event also witnessed the participation of 16 ministries of 

the Government of India with 55 constituent departments 

under their umbrella. The fair showcased a diverse 

array of sectors, including MSMEs, Textiles, Handicrafts 

& Handloom, Financial Services, Defence Production, 

Housing, Food & Beverages, New & Renewable Energy, 

Tribal Products, Agricultural Produce, Electrical Vehicles, 

Services, Packaging, and Steel. The fair was visited by 

approximately 50,000 visitors. 

The 38th edition of AAHAR, The International Food and 

Hospitality Fair, was organized by ITPO from March 7-11, 

2024, at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi, in Hall Nos. 1 

to 14. This edition was the biggest AAHAR fair in the 

history of ITPO and was held over a gross exhibition 

area of approximately 1,03,000 square meters, with the 

participation of over 1,700 exhibitors. The event saw the 

participation of 13 ministries, PSUs, government bodies, 

autonomous bodies, and commodity boards of the 

Government of India. International participants from 17 

countries with 80 constituents in various sectors exhibited 

at the fair. Additionally, 12 associations, including AIFPA, 

FHSAI, PBFIA, AIFPA, APEDA, ARCHII, HOTREMAI, KREMAG, 

FAIC, FIFI, FIWA, and ICMA participated in this edition of 

AAHAR. Over 1,00,000 Business Visitors including 453 

overseas visitors from 17 countries visited the fair. Other 

important exhibitions were also organized by ITPO such 

as India International Footwear Fair (IIFF), Delhi Book Fair & 

India International Leather Fair, Chennai.

4.	 FAIRS ABROAD

ITPO coordinated India's national level participation and 

organised India Shows in 13 overseas trade fairs. These 13 

events were held in Europe, Africa/WANA, NAFTA and NEA. 

Out of these events, Africa Food Show, Morocco, November 

31-23, 2023 was a new event during the year. Other major 
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events organised in this year included Anuga, Germany 

(Cologne), Thessaloniki Fair (Greece), Summer Fancy Food 

Show (USA), AF'L Artigiano, Milan (Italy), National Hardware 

Show, (USA) etc.

ITPO participated in SIAL Food Fair, Canada, Toronto, May 

9-11, 2023 held at Enercare Centre, Toronto. India Pavilion 

was inaugurated by Hon'ble CIM-Shri Piyush Goyal. ITPO 

is working to expand its international fairs with the strong 

support and collaboration of all stakeholders.

5	� FAIRS/ EVENTS ORGANIZED BY THIRD-PARTY 
ORGANIZERS AT BHARAT MANDAPAM 

Hosting the G-20 Leaders’ Summit at the world-class 

iconic Convention Centre marked a significant milestone 

in the history of ITPO. Overcoming challenges and 

working collaboratively with the various departments and 

ministries of the Government of India and other agencies, 

ITPO dedicated its best efforts to complete the project 

on time.  Establishing high speed internet, state-of the 

art, audio-visual facilities, robust Building Management 

System with around 67 critical services. Collaborating 

between approximately 100 agencies, ITPO ensured the 

summit’s success. ITPO managed a diverse workforce of 

around 2600 personnel and deployed them across 700 

identified critical locations around the huge 123 acre of 

campus. The successful completion of the summit allowed 

the iconic Convention Centre, Bharat Mandapam, to be 

proudly showcased to the world, representing the spirit of 

"Viksit Bharat."

I am happy to mention that more than 85 third party events 

were organized at Bharat Mandapam which includes 

numerous mega events of national importance. Further, 

with the objective to increase the number of events at 

Bharat Mandapam and to give relief to the exhibition 

industry, ITΡΟ introduced Promotional Tariff plan for the 

period October 2023 to March 2024. Further to promote 

and increase the number of events at Convention Centre, 

various measures were introduced to allow complimentary/

discounted space to the exhibition industry at Bharat 

Mandapam for booking of space at exhibition halls.

6	 INITIATIVES TAKEN FOR THE STAKEHOLDERS:

During the year, significant initiatives have been undertaken 

for improving and augmenting the infrastructure capacity 

and service delivery of ITPO. 

E-Enablement initiatives for Ease of Doing Business. 

Telecom Network Coverage and connectivity was 

successfully strengthened at Exhibition Halls, Convention 

Centre, Basement Parking locations and other adjoining 

locations within Bharat Mandapam. 

Online ticketing system was implemented in a professional 

manner during India International Trade Fair’23, Delhi Book 

Fair’23, NDWBF’24, AAHAR’24 facilitating proper crowd 

management and ease of booking tickets online thereby 

avoiding long queues at Bharat Mandapam entry gates.

ITPO has strengthened its social media presence across 

platforms including Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram, 

alongside its corporate website and dedicated fair-related 

micro-sites. By consistently sharing the latest updates on 

ongoing and upcoming events at Bharat Mandapam, for 

better public reach.

ITPO successfully launched “Bharat Mandapam” Mobile 

App version 1.0 during Global Partnership on Artificial 

Intelligence (GPAI) Summit and also new State-of-the-Art 

Data Centres were successfully commissioned and made 

operational at the new Admin Building and the Convention 

Centre, Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi.

7.	 IECC PROJECT:

The IECC Project has now been almost completed and the 

Convention Centre was inaugurated by the Hon’ble Prime 

Minister in the month of July 2023. Pragati Maidan Premises 

has been renamed as ‘Bharat Mandapam’- the iconic and 

State-of-the-Art MICE destination has brought India on 

the global map for MICE Events. Bharat Mandapam has 

emerged as a Pride of India. The new Complex is attracting 

national and International MICE Sector to host their 

respective events at Bharat Mandapam. 
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8.	 OSAKA JAPAN

I am extremely delighted to mention that India is 

participating in World Expo 2025 to be held in Osaka, Japan 

from 13th April 2025 to 13th October, 2025. ITPO has been 

nominated as the nodal agency to develop India Pavilion at 

the World Expo by the Department of Commerce. 

The funds for the India Pavilion are being provided by the 

Department of Commerce through budgetary support. 

India’s participation will be in a built-up area of 902 sq.mtrs 

in Type-‘X’ Pre-Fab structure constructed by the Expo 

Authorities. IGNCA (an agency of the Ministry of Culture) 

has been engaged to act as PDMA for the India Pavilion at 

World Expo 2025 as per nomination by Ministry of Culture.

9.	 ADMINISTRATION & HRD 

As an initiative for Administrative reforms, long pending 

matters were addressed where 116 officers/officials were 

promoted in different grade and cadre, 185 officials were 

granted personal financial up-gradation under Incentivized 

Assured Career Progression Scheme (IACPS). 28 Young 

Professionals, one Hindi Translator, 7 Consultant and 4 other 

Engg. Personnel on contractual basis were engaged in ITPO 

during the year. The Guidelines on reservation policy were 

complied with.  Liaison Officers have been nominated to 

look after the interests of SCs/STs/PwBD & OBC/ESM/EWS. 

In every Departmental Promotion/Selection Committee 

meetings, an officer of appropriate level belonging to SC/

ST/OBC/PwBD/ESM/EWS and minority category had been 

associated to look after the interests of the candidates 

belonging to these categories. The provisions contained in 

Persons with Disabilities (Equal Opportunities, Protection 

of Rights and Full Participation) Act 1995 regarding 

reservation in posts/services for disabled persons were 

also complied with. 

10.	� PROGRESSIVE USE OF THE OFFICIAL 
LANGUAGE (HINDI)

In order to effectively implement the Official Language 

Policy of Government of India in ITPO office, a Departmental 

Official Language Implementation Committee has been 

constituted, whose meetings are held regularly every 

quarter, along with the officers and officials of the office. 

Employees receive training from official language experts 

through quarterly workshops, following a rotational 

process.

11. VIGILANCE

The Vigilance Division assists in maintaining transparency 

and integrity in general administration and functioning 

of various Divisions of ITPO. As a preventive measure, 

the Vigilance Division also monitors timely payments of 

bills / wages to contractors / suppliers / service providers 

/ contractual manpower. To ensure transparency and 

efficient vigilance administration, use of Information 

Technology innovations is actively pursued.

The Vigilance Division files annual returns/reports to 

Department of Commerce, Central Vigilance Commission 

(CVC) and Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) as per 

the relevant guidelines. Vigilance Awareness Week was 

observed in ITPO and its Regional Offices to spread 

awareness about the importance of carrying out ethical 

and transparent business transactions in day-to-day official 

works and public interface. 

12.	 SUBSIDIARIES OF ITPO: 

Tamil Nadu Trade Promotion Organisation (TNTPO)

The Chennai Trade Centre is managed by TNTPO, a Joint 

venture of ITPO and TIDCO. The Chennai Trade Centre 

was set up in 2001 over an area of 25.48 acres of land in 

Nandambakkam, a prime location in Chennai. 

During 2023-24, 102 Exhibitions were held in the Exhibition 

Halls and 75 Events took place in the Convention Centre. 

TNTPO earned a total income of Rs. 51.17 crore as compared 

to Rs. 46.87 crore in the previous year. The net surplus is 

Rs.26.20 crore after considering 'Other Comprehensive 

Income', as against Rs.28.85 crore      (Recast as per Ind-AS) 

in the previous year (2022-23). 

TNTPO has almost completed the construction of a multi-

purpose (Exhibition/Convention) hall with an area of 

20,322 square meters under the expansion plan of TNTPO 
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at an approved cost of Rs.384.90 crore including GST. After 

the completion of the expansion project, there will be a 

total of 2 Convention Centres,     8 Exhibition Halls and 3 

Conference Halls to organise Exhibitions, Conferences and 

Meetings, available in a total area of 36,980 square meters 

in an area of 34.61 acres of land.

KARNATAKA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION 
(KTPO)- 

Located in 48.35 acres of prime area of the Export Promotion 

Industrial Park at Whitefield, Bengaluru. KTPO features 

two air-conditioned exhibition halls measuring 5,371 

and 5,115 square meters which was recently constructed 

and completed. Eleven open exhibition stalls have been 

constructed around the exhibition hall for displaying 

heavy equipment and machinery, as well as for setting up 

food courts and business centres. An additional open area 

of 20 acres is available for outdoor exhibitions, and hangers 

can be erected according to the exhibitors' convenience. 

The Trade Centre Bengaluru is managed by the Karnataka 

Trade Promotion Organisation, a joint venture of ITPO and 

the Karnataka Industrial Area Development Board (KIADB). 

During 2023-24, 59 events were held at the Trade Centre 

in Bengaluru (TCB), and KTPO earned a total income of Rs. 

16.87 crores compared to Rs. 9.30 crores in the previous 

year. The net surplus is Rs. 9.27 crores, as opposed to the 

net surplus of Rs. 3.83 crores in the previous year.

ITPO SERVICES LIMITED (ISL)

The company was formed as a Private Limited Company 

on 24.05.2020 by ITPO as its 100% subsidiary under 

Companies Act 2013, as a “for profit” company (non-

Section 8 company). The main objectives of ITPO Services 

Limited are to promote/undertake hospitality and F&B 

services including facilitating a 5-star hotel, conferences/ 

exhibitions/ display of products/ event management 

and other activities ancillary and/ or incidental to trade 

promotion and any other commercial activities in and 

around Bharat Mandapam or any other area within or 

outside India. The company is yet to start its operations.

13.	   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the 

Remuneration Committee have been constituted in line 

with the Guidelines of DPE on Corporate Governance.  Both 

the Board as well as the other committee meetings are 

held as per requirements at regular intervals. The Company 

submitted the annual report in Compliance with DPE’s 

Guidelines on Corporate Governance to the Department of 

Commerce during 2023-24, within the specified timelines 

and reported an Annual Average Pro-rata Score of 97.89% 

to qualify for an ‘Excellent’ Grade.

14. 	CODE OF CONDUCT 

ITPO has formulated a Code of Conduct for the Board 

of Directors and Senior Management Personnel. The 

confirmation of compliance of the same is obtained from all 

concerned on annual basis. All Board Members and Senior 

Management Personnel have given their confirmation of 

compliance for the year under review. 

15.	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR )

ITPO has been strictly adhering to the CSR and Sustainability 

Guidelines issued by Department of Public Enterprises and 

the applicable Act & Rules of the Companies Act 2013. The 

CSR initiatives/activities are implemented and monitored 

accordingly. The available fund of Rs. 73,00,000 (Rupees 

Seventy Three Lakhs only) has been disbursed towards 

equal distribution with PM CARES, CLEAN GANGA FUND 

and SWACHH BHARAT KOSH. 

16. 	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I take this opportunity to thank all Members of the 

Company for their continued and whole hearted support 

as well as the confidence reposed in the Management. I 

wish to extend my sincere gratitude to the Department of 

Commerce for their continued support. I am also thankful 

to Ministry of MSME, Ministry of Textiles, other Ministries/

Embassies and offices of Central and State Governments 

and particularly the Ministry of Housing and Urban Affairs, 

Ministry of External Affairs, including the Indian Missions, 

for their continued guidance and assistance. We are also 
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grateful to the CPWD, PWD, MCD, Delhi Police, MTNL, 

Ministry of Railways, Rail Tel, Deptt. of Telecom along 

with other agencies and individuals, for their invaluable 

cooperation during events at Bharat Mandapam.  

On behalf of ITPO, I seek support from all stakeholders and 

assure them to make Bharat Mandapam a new world class 

venue for the MICE industry, contributing to a Viksit Bharat 

while also enhancing our role as a better service provider 

in terms of delivery of quality and efficient services for the 

exhibition industry.  I convey my sincere thanks to all my 

colleagues on the Board, Auditors and to all the employees 

of ITPO for their discipline, dedication and hard work for 

the company’s remarkable performance.

Last but not the least I once again thank all stakeholders 

for accomplishing ITPO’s mission for establishing “Bharat 

Mandapam” as most preferred destination for hosting 

mega events & conferences and projecting the rising “New 

India” to the world.

Jai Hind

Sd/-

( Pradeep Singh Kharola )

Chairman and Managing Director

India Trade Promotion Organization

New Delhi 

10 December, 2024
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Form No. MGT -11 
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Lamp Lighting   by CMD, ITPO in the august presence of Ho'ble Minister of State for Commerce,  
Smt. Anupriya Patel, Govt. of India for the inauguration of  IITF'2023 at Bharat Mandampam

Visitors during Aahar, 2024, a B2B event held at Bharat Mandapam
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

To the Members,

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Company’s 47th Annual Report and the Audited Statement of Accounts for 
the financial year ended on 31st March, 2024.

1.	 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

	� The total income during the year is Rs 670.38 crores against Rs. 430.92 crores (recasted as per Ind-AS) generated in the 
previous year.

	� During the year 2023-24, the Company has earned a surplus of Rs. 168.01 crores after considering ‘Other comprehensive 
Income/(Loss) compared to a surplus of Rs. 229.99 crores (recasted as per Ind-AS) in the preceding year. 

	� The Company is registered under section 25 of the Companies Act, 1956 (now Section 8 of the Companies Act, 
2013) and as per the relevant provisions under this Section, as applicable to the Company, declaration of dividend is 
prohibited.

2.	 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

	� Shri Pradeep Singh Kharola continued to be Chairman and Managing Director w.e.f. 20.10.2022. Shri Rajat Agarwal 
continued as Executive Director, ITPO w.e.f. 14.02.2023. The non-whole-time Directors & Independent Directors on the 
Board of the Company are enumerated below:-

Sl. No. Name of Director From To

1. Ms. Arti Bhatnagar
Additional Secretary & Financial Advisor,
Ministry of Commerce & Industry,	
Udyog Bhawan, New Delhi

23.03.2023 Continuing

2. Shri. Rajesh Agrawal
Additional Secretary,
Ministry of Commerce & Industry,	
Udyog Bhawan, New Delhi

03.09.2024 Continuing

3. Dr. Krishan Kumar
Joint Secretary,
Ministry of Commerce & Industry,	
Udyog Bhawan, New Delhi

24.05.2022 02.04.2024

4. Ms. Mercy Epao
Joint Secretary,
Ministry of Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises (MSME), 
Udyog Bhawan, New Delhi 

20.07.2022 Continuing

5. Shri Abhishek Singh
Joint Secretary,
Ministry of External Affairs, 
Sushma Swaraj Bhawan,
New Delhi 

16.08.2023 Continuing
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6. Sh. Md. Noor Rahman Sheikh
Joint Secretary,
Ministry of External Affairs, 
Jawahar Lal Nehru Bhawan,
New Delhi

07.12.2021 16.08.2023

7. Shri Om Prakash Chalniwale
Non-Official Director

03.11.2021 Continuing

There were a total of three Meetings of the Board held during the year 2023-24. The Directors are appointed by the 
Administrative Ministry as per the Govt. of India policies in this regard. 

3.	 KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL	

	� As per the Section 2(51) of the Companies Act, 2013, the following are the key managerial personnel of ITPO during 
the year:-

	 	 Shri Pradeep Singh Kharola, CMD, ITPO – continuing w.e.f.  20.10.2022 

	  	Shri Rajat Agarwal, ED, ITPO – continuing w.e.f. 14.02.2023

	  	Shri S.R. Sahoo, Company Secretary – continuing w.e.f. 27.8.2013

	  	Shri R.K. Thakur, FA&CAO, ITPO - continuing w.e.f. 06.10.2021

3.	 MEMORANDAM OF UNDERSTANDING (MoU)

	 ITPO has been exempted from signing of the MoU for the year 2023-24.	

5.	 FAIRS IN INDIA 

	 The highlights of fairs organized by ITPO during the year 2023-24 are as below:

	� The 7th edition of the India International Footwear Fair (IIFF) was organized by ITPO from July 27- 29, 2023, in Hall 
No. 6 and the Hangar at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi. The fair was co-organized with the Confederation of Indian 
Footwear Industries (CIFI) and was inaugurated by Shri Narayan Rane, Hon'ble Minister of MSME, Government of India, 
on July 27, 2023. Covering a net area of approximately 6,277 square meters, the fair featured 174 exhibitors, including 
two from overseas (Taiwan and Vietnam). The showcased products and services spanned the entire footwear and 
allied sectors, including synthetic materials, footwear components, machinery and equipment, and chemicals. The 
fair was attended by 15000 (approx.) business visitors, with 81 overseas business visitors from 15 countries, including 
Bangladesh, Cameroon, Italy, Japan, Libya, Nepal, Republic of Korea, Russia, Singapore, South Africa, Sri Lanka, Taiwan, 
Turkey, UAE, and Uganda.

	� ITPO organized the 42nd edition of its flagship event, India International Trade Fair (IITF) in Hall Nos. 1 to 14 from 
November 14-27, 2023, at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi. This edition was the largest ever in the history of ITPO. The 
theme for this edition was "Vasudhaiva Kutumbakam- United by Trade." The fair was inaugurated on November 14, 
2023 by Smt. Anupriya Patel, Hon'ble Minister of State for Commerce and Industry and Shri. Som Prakash, Hon'ble 
Minister of State for Commerce and Industry, Government of India. The 2023 edition covered a gross exhibition area 
of 97,000 square meters and featured over 3,500 exhibitors from India and abroad. Bihar and Kerala were the partner 
states, with Delhi, Jammu & Kashmir, Jharkhand, Maharashtra, and Uttar Pradesh as the focus states.
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	� A total of 47 central ministries, government departments, PSUs, PSBs, and commodity boards, along with 28 states 
and UTs, participated together around 3,000 constituent members. Additionally, more than 470 participants, including 
marquee companies, self-help groups, artisans, women, SC-ST entrepreneurs, start-ups, and 59 foreign entities from 12 
countries (UAE, Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Oman, Egypt, Lebanon, Nepal, Thailand, Turkey, Iran, Tunisia, and Kyrgyzstan) 
took part in IITF. The fair attracted approximately one million visitors and hosted various State Day celebrations, 
seminars, workshops, and cultural programs. A total of 23 foreign delegations from 19 countries also visited the fair.

	� ITPO organized the maiden "Atmanirbhar Bharat Utsav" from January 3-10, 2024 at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi in 
Hall No. 1-6. Dr. Subrahmanyam Jaishankar, Hon'ble Minister of External Affairs and Shri Piyush Goyal, Hon'ble Minister 
of Commerce and Industry, Government of India inaugurated the fair on January 3, 2024. The fair was organized in a 
gross exhibition area of approximately 42,000 sqm, with the participation of 1371 exhibitors. This event also witnessed 
the participation of 16 ministries of the Government of India with 55 constituent departments under their umbrella.

	� The fair showcased a diverse array of sectors, including MSMEs, Textiles, Handicrafts & Handloom, Financial Services, 
Defence Production, Housing, Food & Beverages, New & Renewable Energy, Tribal Products, Agricultural Produce, 
Electrical Vehicles, Services, Packaging, and Steel. The fair was visited by approximately 50,000 visitors. 

	� The 38th edition of AAHAR, The International Food and Hospitality Fair, was organized by ITPO from March 7-11, 2024, 
at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi, in Hall Nos. 1 to 14. This edition was the biggest AAHAR fair in the history of ITPO 
and was held over a gross exhibition area of approximately 1,03,000 square meters, with the participation of over 
1,700 exhibitors. The event saw the participation of 13 ministries, PSUs, government bodies, autonomous bodies, and 
commodity boards of the Government of India. International participants from 17 countries with 80 constituents in 
various sectors exhibited at the fair. Additionally, 12 associations, including AIFPA, FHSAI, PBFIA, AIFPA, APEDA, ARCHII, 
HOTREMAI, KREMAG, FAIC, FIFI, FIWA, and ICMA participated in this edition of AAHAR. Over 1,00,000 Business Visitors 
including 453 overseas visitors from 17 countries visited the fair.

6.	 FAIRS ABROAD

	� During the year 2023-24, ITPO coordinated India's national level participation and organised India Shows in 13 
overseas trade fairs. These 13 events were held in Europe, Africa/WANA, NAFTA and NEA. Out of these events, Africa 
Food Show, Morocco, November 31-23, 2023 was a new event during the year. Other major events organised in this 
year included Anuga, Germany (Cologne), Thessaloniki Fair (Greece), Summer Fancy Food Show (USA), AF'L Artigiano, 
Milan (Italy), National Hardware Show, (USA) etc.

	� ITPO had participated in SIAL Food Fair, Canada, Toronto, May 9-11, 2023 held at Enercare Centre, Toronto. India 
Pavilion was inaugurated by Hon'ble CIM-Shri Piyush Goyal, H.E. Shri Sanjay Kumar Verma, High Commissioner of 
India at Ottawa, Smt. Apporva Srivastava, CG, Toronto, Dr. Krishan Kumar, JS, DOC, Shri Rajat Agarwal, ED, ITPO and 
senior Government officials were present. During the currency of the show a BSM was also organised and received a 
remarkable response by the participants.

	� DOC had approved MAI grant for 7 Foreign Fairs to ITPO for the Financial Year 2023-24. Out of which 5 Foreign Fairs 
were held utilizing the MAI amounting to Rs. 277 lacs.

7.	 Fairs/ Events Organized By Third-Party Organizers at Bharat Mandapam

	� Hosting the G-20 summit at the world-class iconic Convention Centre marked a significant milestone in the history 
of ITPO. Overcoming challenges and working collaboratively with the various departments and ministries of 
the Government of India and other agencies, ITPO dedicated its best efforts to complete the project on time. The 
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successful completion allowed the iconic Convention Centre, known as Bharat Mandapam, to be proudly showcased 
to the world during the G-20 summit, representing the spirit of "Viksit Bharat."

	 Key Highlights of the G20 Summit, 2023 hosted at Bharat Mandapam

	 Efficient Facility Management :

	 	� ITPO ensured High-speed internet, State-of-the art audio-visual facilities integrated through multiple cameras, 
Mic systems, Seamless and Uninterrupted Power Supplies, Air conditioning and Precision Lighting for appropriate 
effects in different facilities at Bharat Mandapam etc.

	 	 �Robust Building Management System with around 67 critical services like flawless operation of Lifts, Escalators, 
Air handling units (AHUs) & Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC) systems, was deployed by ITPO.

	 Workforce Management :

	 	 �Collaborating between approximately 100 agencies such as NBCC, CBRE, RailTel, CDAC etc., ITPO ensured the 
summit's success. 

	 	 �ITPO managed a diverse workforce of around 2600 personnel and deployed them across 300 identified critical 
locations around the huge 123-acre campus.

	 Efficient and Robust IT Infrastructure:

	 	 �ITPO deployed an efficient and capable technical team to provide seamless connectivity through 5G Internet.

	 	� 3600 Man-days were invested for IT infrastructure, 1675 indoor antennas, over 35km of radio frequency cable and 
25 km of Fibre cable was deployed to provide uninterrupted telecom services at Bharat Mandapam for the G20 
Summit.

	 	 �During the Financial Year 2023-24, 85 third party events were organised at Bharat Mandapam in old halls and new 
halls. These included several Government events of national importance and some high-profile corporate events.

	 Some notable 3rd Party events are mentioned below:-

	� For the first time with the initiative of Department of Commerce, the events namely Bharat Mobility Global Expo, 
Bharat Tex 2024, Start up Mahakumb 2024, were organised at Convention centre in old and new exhibition halls of 
Bharat Mandapam. Besides these, Google for India, New Delhi World Book Fair, Convergence India, FDCI X Lakme 
Fashion Week, IREE, India Mobile Congress, World Food India, MISS WORLD Event (2 Rounds) were organised.

	� Hon'ble Prime Minister of India visited 25 events whereas 4 events inaugurated by Hon'ble President of India and for 
1 event inaugurated by Hon'ble Vice President of India.

	� Further, with the objective to increase number of events at Bharat Mandapam and to give relief to the exhibition 
industry, ITΡΟ introduced Promotional Tariff plan for the period October 2023 to March 2024.

	� Further to promote and increase the number of events at Convention Centre, various measures were introduced 
to allow complimentary/discounted space to the exhibition industry at Bharat Mandapam for booking of space at 
exhibition halls.

8.	 OTHER Initiatives taken for stakeholders

	� During the year, significant initiatives have been undertaken for improving and augmenting the infrastructure capacity 
and service delivery of ITPO. These include the following:



ANNUAL REPORT 2023-2447th INDIA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION

34

	 E-Enablement  for ease of doing business: 

	� Online space booking system for domestic events, Online booking of Halls & service requirements for 3rd party events, 
Wi-fi facility in all old AC halls and new halls, E-ticketing for fair visitors and E-procurement from GEMS/e-tendering 
continued on the same pace.

	 Customer Friendly Measures 

	� Competitive tariff policy for 3rd party events, Single Point of Contact (SPOC) system for 3rd party events at Bharat 
Mandapam strengthened.  Inspection Service delivery team continued with wider responsibilities to ensure better 
delivery of services to organisers/participants and compliance to ITPO guidelines, Strengthening of the already 
implemented 'Help Desk' (booking team and software portal team) for third-party events, Regular interaction and 
feedback from participants/ organizers, Improvements in online portal for booking and service requirements which 
was developed in the previous Financial Years.

9.	 IECC PROJECT

	� The IECC Project has now been almost completed and the Convention Centre was inaugurated by the Hon’ble Prime 
Minister in the month of July 2023. Pragati Maidan Premises has been renamed as ‘Bharat Mandapam’- the iconic 
and State-of-the-Art MICE destination has brought India on the global map for MICE Events. Bharat Mandapam has 
emerged as a Pride of India.  

	� The new Complex is attracting national and International MICE Sector to host their respective events at the Bharat 
Mandapam. 

10.	 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

	� Exhibition space booking for ITPO’s flagship events viz. India International Trade Fair’23, Delhi Book Fair’23, NDWBF’24, 
AAHAR’24 was successfully done through web-based software application. Professional helpdesk facility was also 
extended to the exhibitors for providing technical support for online space booking. Immaculate wired and wireless 
internet services were also maintained during the G-20 Summit 2023, Inaugural ceremony of Bharat Mandapam, 
Indian Mobile Congress, 2023, 90th Interpol General Assembly and other prestigious national and international events 
held at Bharat Mandapam.

	� A robust Cyber Security Ecosystem was implemented during the prestigious G-20 Leaders’ Summit 2023 held at Bharat 
Mandapam.  Security Event and Incident Management (SEIM) system as part of the Cyber Security solution was also 
successfully implemented during the G-20 Summit.

	� Telecom Network Coverage connectivity was successfully strengthened at Exhibition Halls, Convention Centre, 
Basement Parking locations and other adjoining locations within Bharat Mandapam through deployment of          In-
building Solution (IBS) and OD poles. Seamless telecom services were maintained during the prestigious G-20 Leaders’ 
Summit 2023 held at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi.

	� Online ticketing system was implemented in a professional manner during India International Trade Fair’23, Delhi 
Book Fair’23, NDWBF’24, AAHAR’24 facilitating proper crowd management and ease of booking tickets online thereby 
avoiding long queues at Bharat Mandapam entry gates.

	� To get conspicuous in market, social media has remained the most profitable digital marketing platform in current 
scenario. In this regard, ITPO enhanced its social media presence through various social media handles of ITPO i.e. 
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Facebook, Twitter, Instagram along with corporate website and dedicated fair related micro-sites by updating latest 
information and activities regarding ongoing and upcoming events in Bharat Mandapam.

	� On-demand internet services, Wi-Fi and broadband services were provided in exhibition halls within ITPO, Pragati 
Maidan during ITPO’s flagship fairs viz. India International Trade Fair’23, Delhi Book Fair’23, IISE’23, NDWBF’24, 
AAHAR’24.

	� ITPO successfully launched “Bharat Mandapam” Mobile App version 1.0 during Global Partnership on Artificial 
Intelligence (GPAI) Summit, December 12-14, 2023. 

	� New State-of-the-Art of the Data Centres were successfully commissioned and made operational at the new Admin 
Building and the Convention Centre, Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi.

	� Mobile charging station facility was provided for exhibitors and visitors through deployment of portable power banks 
kiosks for the first time during the IITF’23.

11.	 ADMINISTRATION & HRD 

	� During the year 2023-2024, one officer was appointed by ITPO on deputation basis and one officer was posted to 
ITPO by DoC,116 officers/officials were promoted in different grade and cadre, 185 officials were granted personal 
financial up-gradation  under Incentivized Assured Career Progression Scheme (IACPS). 28 Young Professionals, one 
Hindi Translator, 7 Consultant and 4 other Engg. Personnel on contractual basis were engaged in ITPO.

	 Celebration/Programmes/Workshops etc.:

	 	 Celebration of the  ‘Flag Hoisting Ceremony on the occasion of Independence Day’ 

	  ‘Rashtriya Ekta Diwas’ 

	 	 ‘Campaign on Online Organ Donation Pledge Drive’ 

	 	 ‘Swachhata Pakhwada’ 

	 	 ‘Communal Harmony Week’ 

	 	 ‘Workshop as Sexual harassment at Workplace’ 

	 	 ‘Contributions to Armed Forces Flag Day’ 

	 	 �‘Two minutes silence at their respective places of work in memory of those who gave their lives in the struggle for 
India’s freedom’ 

	 	 ‘Flag Hoisting ceremony of the Republic day etc.

	 Reservation Policy of Government of India:

 	� The Guidelines on reservation policy were complied with within ITPO. Liaison Officers have been nominated to look after 
the interests of SCs/STs/PwBD & OBC/ESM/EWS.  In every Departmental Promotion/Selection Committee meetings, 
an officer of appropriate level belonging to SC/ST/OBC/PwBD/ESM/EWS and minority category had been associated 
to look after the interests of the candidates belonging to these categories. The provisions contained in Persons with 
Disabilities (Equal Opportunities, Protection of Rights and Full Participation) Act 1995 regarding reservation in posts/
services for disabled persons were also complied with.  Floral tributes were offered on the occasion of the Birthday of 
Dr. B.R. Ambedkar.
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12.	 PROGRESSIVE USE OF THE OFFICIAL LANGUAGE (HINDI)

	� In order to effectively implement the Official Language Policy of Government of India in ITPO office, a Departmental 
Official Language Implementation Committee has been constituted under the chairmanship of the Chairman and 
Managing Director, whose meetings are held regularly every quarter, along with the officers and officials of the office. 
Employees receive training from official language experts through quarterly workshops, following a rotational process.

	� The ITPO office adheres to the guidelines provided by the Parliamentary Official Language Committee, the 
Department of Official Language, the Ministry of Home Affairs, and the Ministry of Commerce. As an active member 
of NARAKAS (Municipal Official Language Implementation Committees Delhi Undertaking 2), the ITPO office supports 
and promotes the effective implementation of Hindi in all its government activities. NARAKAS, established by the 
Department of Official Language in accordance with the Ministry of Home Affairs' directives, aims to enhance and 
ensure the proper use of Hindi across government undertakings.

	� During Hindi Pakhwada 2023, competitions were held at ITPO headquarters and regional offices in Hindi noting and 
drafting, translation, spelling correction, and picture description. The winners of these events were honored by the 
Chairman and Managing Director.

13.	 SECURITY

	 	 During the year 2023-24, following are the initiatives done by Security Division:- 

	 	 Transformation of ITPO cadre security into private security 

	 	 Introduction of new age security, CCTV and fire gadgets.

	 	 Operational deployment of Security and Fire gadgets in new campus.

	 	 Introduction of Key management and locking system in new campus.

	 	 �Smooth operation of Basement Parking was made for Officials, Contractors and visitors inside ITPO during G-20 
summit, Inauguration event of Bharat Mandapam & other VVIP events.

	 	 Set-up of Control rooms.

	 	 �Successfully conducted G-20 summit and many other VVIP events in the year 2023-24. Security Division has 
carried out training of Fire Security to all Security guards and developed resource person.

	 	 �Following are the various fire Safety prevention & awareness activities took place during the year:-

	 	 06 Mock Drills, 02 Evacuation Drills & 07 fire safety Trainings. 

	 	 ISO Audit of Security Division was completed successfully without any major observation.

	 Security division secure the events during the entire year, actively participated in conduct of following events:-

	 a)	 VVIP Visits -28

	 b)	 VIP Visits-100(approx.)

	 c)	 FS-II – 06 events (IITF, AAHAR, FOOTWEAR FAIR, BOOK FAIR, NAKSHATRA, ATMANIRBHAR BHARAT ETC.)

	 d)	 Third Party Events -84

	 e)	 BMCC Events - 134 (including VVIP, VIP Events). 
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	� In the entire conduct of events Security Division played an important role in keeping ITPO Campus, Bhairon Mandir 
parking and Ghazipur land free of incident. No major Security or fire breach took place.  Security division worked upon 
methods in close co-ordination with organizers of events to ease out congestion on Bhairon Marg and Mathura Road.   
Worked in Co-ordination with Engineering construction agency for installation of Security, Fire Equipments in New 
project area.

	� Security division made system of Ticket Management in Basement Parking, Bhairon Mandir parking and collected Rs 
1,41,24,950/- Revenue in the year 2023-24.

14. 	 VIGILANCE

	� The Vigilance Division assists in maintaining transparency and integrity in general administration and functioning of 
various Divisions of ITPO.  

	� As a preventive measure, the Vigilance Division also monitors timely payments of bills / wages to contractors / suppliers 
/ service providers / contractual manpower through monthly reports from concerned divisions, certifying that all bills 
have been processed within the approved timelines.  To ensure transparency and efficient vigilance administration, 
use of Information Technology innovations is actively pursued.

	� The Vigilance Division scrutinizes the annual property returns of the employees on a continuous basis and files 
monthly, quarterly, half yearly and annual returns/reports to Department of Commerce, Central Vigilance Commission 
(CVC) and Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI).  

	� In accordance with the instructions issued by the CVC, Vigilance Awareness Week was observed in ITPO and its Regional 
Offices to spread awareness about the importance of carrying out ethical and transparent business transactions in 
day-to-day official works and public interface. The concept of E-Integrity Pledge was also promoted among ITPO’s 
stakeholders i.e. exhibitors and participants of fairs and events in ITPO.

15.	 DESIGN & DISPLAY

	� Design and Display division is the in-house design studio of ITPO. It is primarily involved in the ideation, planning, 
and execution of designs for various ITPO’s domestic and international events. It is a multi-disciplinary design unit 
comprising of experienced visual and communication designers who work on exhibition branding,  corporate visual 
publicity - both print and digital platforms, design management, on ground activation, promotion through social 
media promos, short animated clips, web banner campaigns etc,.

16.	 CORPORATE COMMUNICATION SERVICES:

	� ITPO has made extensive efforts to enhance not only its corporate image and goodwill but also highlight its events 
as well as other activities such as inauguration of Bharat Mandapam where renowned leaders/CEOs attended the 
G-20 summit. Apart from this, regular liasioning with Press/Media persons during fairs/events, publicity campaign 
were executed for different fairs namely India International Footwear Fair 2023, Delhi Book Fair, Stationery Expo, 
Office Automation Expo, Corporate Gift Expo, 2023, India International Trade Fair, 2023, East Himalayan Expo, 2023, 
Aatmanirbhar Bharat, 2024, Nakshatra, 2024, India Leather & Accessories Fair, Kolkata, 2024, India International Leather 
Fair Chennai, 2024 and Aahar 2024.

17.	 SUBSIDIARIES OF ITPO 

Tamil Nadu Trade Promotion Organisation (TNTPO)
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	� The Chennai Trade Centre is managed by TNTPO, a Joint venture of ITPO and TIDCO. The Chennai Trade Centre was 
set up in 2001 over an area of 25.48 acres of land in Nandambakkam, a prime location in Chennai. Hall Nos. 1 & 2 were 
constructed in 2001 encompassing an area of 6,160 square meters. The Convention Centre constructed in 2004 can 
accommodate 2,000 participants with a provision for dividing the hall into two equal parts. Hall No. 3 measuring 4,400 
square meters was inaugurated in 2008. All three Exhibition Halls and the Convention Centre are interconnected. All 
the exhibition halls are fully air-conditioned and are without pillars or columns.

	� During 2023-24, 102 Exhibitions were held in the Exhibition Halls and 75 Events took place in the Convention Centre. 
TNTPO earned a total income of Rs. 51.17 crore as compared to Rs. 46.87 crore in the previous year. The net surplus is 
Rs.26.20 crore after considering 'Other comprehensive Income', as against Rs.28.85 crore (Recast as per Ind-AS) in the 
previous year (2022-23). 

	� The Board of TNTPO has approved the construction of a multi-purpose (Exhibition/Convention) hall with an area 
of 20,322 square meters under the expansion plan of TNTPO at an approved cost of Rs.384.90 crore including GST. 
The work is under progress (Physical progress-99%, Financial Progress-81%). After the completion of the expansion 
project, there will be a total of 2 Convention Centres,,8 Exhibition Halls and 3 Conference Halls to organise Exhibitions, 
Conferences and Meetings, available in a total area of 36,980 square meters in an area of 34.61 acres of land.

	 KARNATAKA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION (KTPO)- 

	� Located in 48.35 acres of prime area of the Export Promotion Industrial Park at Whitefield, Bengaluru. KTPO features 
two air-conditioned exhibition halls measuring 5,371 and 5,115 square meters. Eleven open exhibition stalls have 
been constructed around the exhibition hall for displaying heavy equipment and machinery, as well as for setting up 
food courts and business centres. An additional open area of 20 acres is available for outdoor exhibitions, and hangers 
can be erected according to the exhibitors' convenience. The air-

	� conditioned Hall A, with an area of 5,371 square meters, has only one central pillar, while Hall B, measuring 5,115 square 
meters, is pillar-free, making both spaces suitable for various purposes, including organizing exhibitions, conventions, 
and conferences.

	� The TCB is centrally located approximately 40 km from Bengaluru International Airport and 22 km from the Bengaluru 
City Railway Station, well connected to all parts of the city. The NAMMA METRO train runs along the periphery of the 
KTPO compound, with Kundalahalli Metro station adjacent to the KTPO campus. Several five-star and quality hotels 
are situated within a 3 km radius of the KTPO campus. The Trade Centre Bengaluru is managed by the Karnataka Trade 
Promotion Organisation, a joint venture of ITPO and the Karnataka Industrial Area Development Board (KIADB).

	� During 2023-24, 59 events were held at the Trade Centre in Bengaluru (TCB), and KTPO earned a total income of Rs. 
16.87 crores compared to Rs. 9.30 crores in the previous year. The net surplus is Rs. 9.27 crores, as opposed to the net 
surplus of Rs. 3.83 crores in the previous year.

	 ITPO SERVICES LIMITED (ISL)

	� The company was formed as a Private Limited Company on 24.05.2020 by ITPO as its 100% subsidiary under Companies 
Act 2013, as a “for profit” company (non-Section 8 company). The company has an authorized share capital of Rs.10 
lakhs divided into 10,000/- (Ten Thousand) shares of Rs. 100 each and issued & paid-up share capital of Rs.5 lakhs 
(5,000 shares of Rs. 100 each) contributed by ITPO as its capital contribution.

	� The main objectives of ITPO Services Limited are to promote/undertake hospitality and F&B services including 
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facilitating a 5-star hotel, conferences/ exhibitions/ display of products/ event management and other activities 
ancillary and/ or incidental to trade promotion and any other commercial activities in and around Bharat Mandapam 
or any other area within or outside India. The company is yet to start its operations.

18.	 SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

	� A Statement containing salient features of the financial statements of subsidiaries/associate companies/joint ventures, 
pursuant to section 129 of the Companies Act, 2013 forms part of this report (Annexure - I).

19.	� The extract of Annual Return, as provided under sub section (3) of Section 92 of Companies Act 2013, forms part of 
this Report (Annexure- II).

20.	 FIXED DEPOSITS, LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS

	� During the year, the Company has not accepted any public deposits under Section 73 of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
Rules made there under. 

21.	 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

	� Related Parties transactions have been reported (Refer disclosure at Note no. 35.17 of the Annual Financial Statements).

22.	 AUDITORS 

	� M/s. P. D. Agrawal & Co., Chartered Accountants, New Delhi were appointed as Statutory Auditors of the Company for 
the Financial Year 2023-24 by the Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) of India.

23.	 STATUTORY AUDITORS’ REPORT 

	� The Statutory Auditor’s Report (Annexure-III) is part of Director’s Report.

	� The comments of CAG on the annual accounts of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2024 forms part of this 
report. (Annexure-IV& V)

24.	 INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND THEIR ADEQUACY 

	� The Board has adopted policies and procedures for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including 
adherence to the company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial disclosures. 
IFCR audit has been conducted and reported to the Board.

25.	 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

	� The Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee have been constituted in line with the 
Guidelines of DPE on Corporate Governance.   Both the Board as well as the Audit Committee have been meeting at 
regular intervals.

	� The Company submitted the annual report in Compliance with DPE’s Guidelines on Corporate Governance to the 
Department of Commerce during 2023-24, within the specified timelines and reported an Annual Average Pro-rata 
Score of 97.89% to qualify for an ‘Excellent’ Grade. A detailed report is set out and appended which forms part of this 
report (Annexure-VI &VII).
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26.	 Risk Management

	� The Company regularly analyses the risks related to its operations and all steps were taken to manage & mitigate the 
known risks by insurance & other means. 

27.	 Right to information (rti)

	� All RTI applications and appeals have been settled in time. Further, RTI Cell has implemented Transparency Audit of 
CIC in ITPO within its time limits.

28.	 Code of Conduct 

	� ITPO has formulated a Code of Conduct for the Board of Directors and Senior Management Personnel.  The confirmation 
of compliance of the same is obtained from all concerned on annual basis. All Board Members and Senior Management 
Personnel have given their confirmation of compliance for the year under review.  A declaration, duly signed by CMD, 
is annexed to this report. (Annexure-VIII)

29.	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR )

	� ITPO has been strictly adhering to the CSR and Sustainability Guidelines issued by Department of Public Enterprises 
and the applicable Act & Rules of the Companies Act 2013. The CSR initiatives/activities are implemented and 
monitored accordingly. The detailed policy about CSR initiatives of ITPO is available at http://www.indiatradefair.com/
csr.php  

	� On recommendations of the CSR Committee and as per the Board’s approval, the available fund of Rs. 73,00,000 
(Rupees Seventy Three Lakhs only) has been disbursed towards equal distribution with PM CARES, CLEAN GANGA 
FUND and SWACHH BHARAT KOSH.  The complete details of CSR initiatives by ITPO are enclosed at Annexure-IX.

30.	 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT 

	� Management Discussion and Analysis Report has separately been appended herewith and forms part of this Report. 
(Annexure-X).

31.	 CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

	 (A)	 Conservation of Energy: 

	� The Company’s activities do not involve continuous consumption of energy. However, necessary conservation 
measures, to the maximum extent, have already been implemented like limited use of lights, fans, air conditioners, 
etc.

	 (B)	 Technology Absorption:

	� The Company has not absorbed any technology from any source.  ITPO is in the service sector and being a trade 
promotion organisation, the company is taking every necessary step to increase exports for the country.

	 (C)	 Foreign Exchange Earnings And Outgo 

Current Year (2023-24)
(Rs in Lakhs)

Previous Year (2022-23)
           (Rs. in Lakhs)

Earnings 1131.08 818.70
Outgo 1413.40 1632.73
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32.	 DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

	� As stipulated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Directors subscribe to the “Directors’ Responsibility 
Statement” and confirm as under:

	� That, in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards have been followed along with 
proper explanation relating to material departures;

	� That, the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied  them  consistently and made estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the financial statements and of income over expenditure 
of the Company for that period; 

	� That, the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care of the maintenance of adequate accounting records 
in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and 
detecting fraud and other irregularities;

	 That, the Directors have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis;

	� The Directors had laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the company and that such internal financial 
controls are adequate and  operating effectively;

	� That, the Directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with provisions of all applicable laws and that 
such systems were adequate and operating effectively.
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Date: 27/09/2024	
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Annexure-II  

Form No. MGT-9 
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN 

as on the financial year ended on 31
st

 March, 2024 
 

Pursuant to section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of 

the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 
 

 

I. REGISTRATION AND OTHER DETAILS: 

 

i) CIN   U74899DL1976NPL008453 

   

ii) Registration Date   30/12/1976 
   

iii) Name of the Company  INDIA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION 

   

iv) 
 

Category / Sub-Category of the 
Company 

 Mini- Ratna Category-1 
 

   

  v) 

 

Address of the Registered office 

and contact details 

 

 Bharat Mandapam,New Delhi-110001 
 Tel. : 91-11-23371540 (EPABX) 
 Fax : 91-11-23371492, 23371493 
 email : info@itpo.gov.in  
 

   

vi) Whether listed company Yes / No 

   

vii) Name, Address and Contact  
 details of Registrar and 

Transfer Agent, if any 

 

N/A 

  

 

 

II. PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY 

 
All the business activities contributing 10 % or more of the total turnover of the 

company shall be stated:- 

 

SI. NO.  Name and Description of main  
products/ services 

NIC Code of the 
Product/ services 

% to Total turnover 
of  the company 

1 
Organising Fairs/ Exhibitions for 
promotion of India’s trade - 100% 

2 - - - 

3 - - - 
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III. PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES – 

 

S.NO 
 

NAME AND ADDRESS 
OF THE COMPANY 

CIN/GIN 
 

HOLDING/ 
SUBSIDIARY/ 
ASSOCIATE 

% of 
shares 

held 

Applicable 
Section 

 

1 Tamilnadu Trade 
Promotion Organisation                  
CTC Complex 
Nandambakkam 
Chennai 600089 

 
U91120TN2000NPL046140 

 
SUBSIDIARY 

 
51% 

 
Sec.25 now 

Sec.8 

2 Karnataka Trade 
Promotion Organisation                   
Plot No.121,Road 
No.5,EPIP,2nd Phase, 
Whitefield Industrial 
Area, Bengaluru – 
560066 

U92490KA2000NPL028238 SUBSIDIARY 51% Sec.25 now 
Sec.8 

3 ITPO Services Limited 
Pragati Bhawan Pragati 
Maidan, New Delhi- 
110001 

U55209DL2020GOI363949 SUBSIDIARY 100% Non section 
8 Company 

4 Jammu & Kashmir 
Trade Promotion 
Organisation 
Jammu and Kashmir 
Industries, Old 
Secretariat, Srinagar 
190001 

U93090JK2018NPL010473 ASSOCIATE 
 

42.05% Sec.8 

5. National Centre For 
Trade Information                          
Hall # 19, 
Pragati Maidan, 
New Delhi – 110001 

U74899DL1995NPL067008 ASSOCIATE 
(under 

Liquidation) 

50% Sec.25 now 
Sec.8 

 

IV. SHARE HOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity) 
 
(i) Category-wise Share Holding 

 

Category of shareholders 
 

No. of shares held at 
the beginning of the 

year 

No. of shares held 
at the end of the 

year 

% Change 
during the 

year 
A. Promoters 

  
(1) Indian - - - 

(a) Individual/ HUF  - - - 
 

(b) Central Govt 
 

25000/- 25000/- 0% 
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• President of India (24998) 
 

• CommerceSecretary, DOC(1) 
 

• CMD,ITPO (1) 
 

(c) State Govt(s) 
 

-   

 
-  

 
- 

 
(d) Bodies Corp. 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(e) Banks/FI  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(f) Any Other 

 - - - 
Sub-total (A)(1):- 

 
25000/- 

 
25000/- 

 
0% 

 
(2) Foreign  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(a) NRIs - Individuals  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(b) Other - Individuals 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(c) Bodies Corp 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(d) Banks / FI  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(e)Any Other….  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Sub-total (A) (2):-  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 

Total shareholding of 
Promoter (A) = (A)(1)+(A)( 2) 

25000/- 25000/- 0% 

B. Public Shareholding 
 

1. Institutions - - - 
(a)  Mutual Funds  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(b)  Banks/FI  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(c)  Central Govt - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(d) State Govt(s)  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(e) Venture Capital Funds  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(f)  Venture Capital Funds  
 

- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(g) Insurance Companies 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(h) FIIs  
 

- 

 
- 

 
- 
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(i) Foreign Venture Capital 

Funds  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(j) Others (specify)    

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Sub-total (B)(1):- 

 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

2.Non Institutions  
 

a)  Bodies Corp. - - - 
i) Indian  
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

ii)   Overseas  
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(b)  Individuals 
 - - - 

i)  Individual shareholders 

holding nominal share capital 

upto Rs. 1 lakh  - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
ii)   Individual shareholders 

holding nominal share capital 

in excess of Rs 1 lakh  - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(c) Others (specify)    

 
- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

Sub-total (B)(2):- 
 

- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Total Public Shareholding  
(B) = (B)(1)+(B)( 2) 

- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
C.  Shares held by Custodian 
      for GDRs &  ADRs - - - 

Grand total (A+B+C) 25000/- 25000/- 0% 

 
(ii) Shareholding of Promoters 

 

SL. 

NO. 

Shareholder’s 

Name 

Shareholding at the beginning 

of the year 

Shareholding at the end of 

the year  

  

No. of 

Shares 

% of total 

Shares of 

the 

company 

 % of 

shares 

pledged 

/encunb 

erred to 

total 

shares 

No. of 

Shares 

% of total 

Shares of 

the 

company 

% of 

Shares 

Pledged/ 

encunberr

ed to total 

shares 

% change 

in share 

holding 

during the 

year 

1 
 

President of 
India 

24998 
 

99.98% 
 

NO 
 

24998 
 

99.98% 
 

NO 
 

0% 
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2 Commerce 

Secretary, DOC 
1 
 
 

0.01% 
 
 

 NO 
 
 

1 
 
 

0.01% 
 
 

NO 
 
 

0% 
 
 

3 
 

CMD,ITPO 
 

1 
 

0.01% 
 

 NO 
 

1 
 

0.01% 
 

NO 
 

0% 
 

 Total 25000 100%  NO 25000 100% NO 0%           

 
(iii) Change in Promoters’ Shareholding (please specify, if there is no change) 

 

SL.NO.   
Shareholding at the 

beginning of the year 
Cumulative shareholding 

during the year 

  
 

No. of 
shares 

% of total shares  
of the company 

No. of 
shares 

% of total shares 
of the company 

  At the beginning of the year  NA -   NA - 

 

Date wise Increase / Decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/ decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer / 
bonus/ sweat equity etc): 

- - - - 

  At the End of the year   NA -   NA - 

 
(iv) Shareholding Pattern of top ten Shareholders (other than Directors, Promoters and   

Holders of GDRs and ADRs): 
 

SL.NO.   
Shareholding at the 

beginning of the year 

Cumulative shareholding 

during the year 

  
 

No. of 
shares 

% of total shares  
of the company 

No. of 
shares 

% of total shares 
of the company 

  At the beginning of the year  NA -   NA - 

 

Date wise Increase / Decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/ decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer / 
bonus/ sweat equity etc): 

- - - - 

  At the End of the year   NA -   NA - 
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(v) Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel: 
 

 Sl. No 

 

Shareholding at the beginning 

of the year 
Cumulative Shareholding 

during the year 

 

For Each of the 

Directors and KMP 

No. of shares % of total shares 

of the company 

No. of shares 

 

% of total shares 

of  the company 

 At the beginning of 
the year 

CMD,ITPO  (1) .01% CMD,ITPO  (1) .01% 

    
    

 

Date wise Increase / 
Decrease in Share    
holding during the 
year specifying the 
reasons for increase 
/decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / 
bonus / sweat equity 
etc): 

 
 
 

NIL 

 
 
 
- 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

NIL 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
- 
 
 
 
 

 At the End of the year  CMD,ITPO (1) .01%  CMD,ITPO (1) 
 

.01% 
    
 

V. INDEBTEDNESS 

 
Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not 

due for payment 

(Amount in Lakhs) 
 Secured loans 

excluding deposits 
Unsecured 

Loans 
Deposits Total 

Indebtedness 

 Indebtedness at the beginning 
 of the financial year 

(i) Principal Amount 

 
 

65319.33 

 
 

NIL 

 
 
- 

 
 

NIL 

( ii) Interest due but not Paid   NIL - - - 

(iii) Interest accrued but not due 389.25 - - NA 

Total (I + ii+ iii) 65708.58 - - - 

Change in Indebtedness during 

the financial year 
 - - - 

• Addition 16397.14 - - - 

• Reduction 26475.95 - - - 

Net Change 
 

(10078.81) - - - 

Indebtedness at the end of the   
financial year 

i) Principal Amount 

 
 

55189.53 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

ii) Interest due but not paid NIL - - - 

iii) Interest accrued but not due 440.24 - - - 
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Total (I + ii+ iii) 55629.77 - - - 

 
VI. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL 

 
A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or Manager: 

 
     (Amount in Lakhs) 

Sl. No. 
Particulars of 
Remuneration Name of the MD/WTD/Manager     

  

CMD 

 

ED 

 

Total 
Amount 

  PSK RA MP  

1. Gross salary 
(a) Salary as per 
provisions contained in 
section 17(1) of the 
Income- tax Act, 1961 

27.87 32.58 50.88 111.33 

  

(b)Value of perquisites 
u/s 17(2) Income-tax 
Act, 1961  

- 
2.21 

- 2.21 

  

(c) Profits in lieu of salary  
under section 17(3) 
Income tax Act, 1961  

- 

 
- 

 
- 

 

2 Stock Option  - - - 

3 Sweat Equity  - - - 

4 
 
 

 Commission                              
-as % of profit                                                   
-others, specify….. 

- - - 

5 
 

Others, please 
specify….. - - 

- 

  Total (A) 27.87 34.78 50.88 113.53 

  Ceiling as per the Act      
 
B. Remuneration to other Directors: 
 
Sl. No. Particulars of Remuneration Name of Directors Total Amount 

 

1. Independent Directors 
• Fee for attending board committee 

meetings 

Shri. Om Prakash 

Chalaniwale 
Rs. 150,000/- 

 
 

Commission - - 
Others, please specify(Air Travel) - - 

 Total (1) - - 

2. Other Non-Executive Directors 
• Fee for attending board committee 

meetings 

NIL NIL 

Commission 
- - 
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Others, please specify 
- - 

 Total (2) NIL NIL 

 Total (B)=(1+2) - - 

 Total Managerial Remuneration   

 Overall Ceiling as per the Act.   

 

C. REMUNERATION TO KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL OTHER THAN MD/MANAGER/WTD 
 

Sl. No. 
 

Particulars of 
remuneration 
 

Key Managerial Personnel 
 

Total 
 

   CEO  Company  
Secretary  

 CFO   

1 Gross Salary     

 (a) Salary as per provisions 
contained in section 17(1) 
of the Income Tax Act, 
1961. 

NA 24.32 29.86 54.18 

 (b) Value of perquisites u/s 
17(2) of the Income Tax Act, 
1961 

- 2.23 0 2.23 

 (c ) Profits in lieu of salary 
under section 17(3) of the 
Income Tax Act, 1961 

- - - - 

2 Stock Option - - - - 

3 Sweat Equity - - - - 

4 Commission - - - - 

  as % of profit - - - - 

  others, specify - - - - 

5 Others, please specify - - - - 

 Total - 26.55 29.86 56.41 
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VII. PENALTIES / PUNISHMENT/ COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES: 

 
Type Section of the 

Companies Act 
Brief 

Description 
Details of Penalty/ 

Punishment/ 
Compounding fees 

imposed 

Authority 
(RD/NCLT/ 

Court) 

Appeal 
made if 

any  
(give 

details) 

A.  COMPANY 

Penalty 
 

----------------------------------------------NIL---------------------------------------------------- Punishment 

Compounding 
B. DIRECTORS 

Penalty 
 

----------------------------------------------NIL---------------------------------------------------- Punishment 

Compounding 
C. OTHER OFFICERS IN DEFAULT 

Penalty 
 

----------------------------------------------NIL---------------------------------------------------- Punishment 

Compounding 
 

******* 



ANNUAL REPORT 2023-2447th INDIA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION

53

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of ‘India Trade Promotion Organisation’

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Standalone Financial Statements of ‘India Trade Promotion Organisation’ (the 
“Company”), which comprise the Standalone Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2024, the Standalone Statement of Income 
and Expenditure (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the Standalone financial Statement including a 
summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, except for the effects of 
the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the aforesaid financial statements give the 
information required by the Companies Act, 2013, as amended (“the Act”) in the manner so required and a true and fair 
view in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 
March 31, 2024, its deficit including other comprehensive income, its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year 
ended on that date.

Basis for Qualified Opinion Management Reply:
1.	� We draw attention to Note no. 35.9(g) of Standalone 

Financial Statements wherein the company has 
incurred an expenditure amounting to Rs 18,308.00 
Lakhs for cost of construction of tunnel out of the which 
an amount of Rs 16,592.44 Lakhs has been apportioned 
over all the structures (except hall no. 1) in the ratio of 
budgeted cost of all structures on July, 2023, being the 
month of inauguration of Convention Center (Bharat 
Mandapam) of theses halls. 

	� In view of the aforesaid, the management has overstated 
the value of building structures by the proportionate 
cost of construction of tunnel amounting to Rs 18308.00 
Lakhs incurred by ITPO. The PPE has been understated 
as well as WIP has been overstated by the value of Rs 
1715.56 Lakhs, the proportionate cost of construction 
of tunnel for Hall no 1 (yet to be capitalized) during the 
year. The tunnel has been completed and inaugurated 
in the month of June 2022.

Construction of tunnel was an integral part of the IECC 
project plan for the design/ proposal stage itself, as per para 
4.4 of the CCEA approval dated 24th Jan. 2017. The cost of 
tunnel was incurred as part of project for traffic decongestion 
during the crowded events at the Bharat Mandapam, as per 
PIB note dt. 19th June 2022.

Expenditure on tunnel by ITPO was required in order to 
get future economic benefits from the project as a whole 
which can be considered as the unit of measure for the 
purpose of capitalisation of the said expenditure even 
though the company cannot restrict the access of others for 
using the assets individually. It is apparent that the aforesaid 
expenditure is directly attributable to bringing the asset to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

As per para 6 (Definitions) in Ind AS 16, ‘Property, Plant 
& Equipments are tangible itemsthat: … are held for use in
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In our opinion, the total cost of tunnel should have been 
shown in separate line item under the Property, Plant and 
Equipment (PPE).

production or supply of goods or services...’.In case of ITPO, 
the tunnel is not held by ITPO but is used by the general 
public for free movement around Pragati Maidan complex.

ITPO has no ownership or control over the tunnel. ITPO 
has no exclusive rights to use the tunnel nor can it restrict 
others to use the tunnel. Accordingly, it does not qualify to 
be recognised as a ‘PPE’ in the books of ITPO.Therefore, the 
contribution towards the cost of Tunnel cannot be considered 
as a separate asset item.

The benefit of traffic congestion will be a long-term benefit for 
the all the events to be organised in all the halls/ convention 
centre of ITPO and the cost is, therefore, included in the 
cost of PPE as a directly attributable cost. The cost of tunnel, 
after its inauguration, has been rightly apportioned over the 
values of all the building structures in the ratio of budgeted 
cost of structures and depreciated over the useful life of the 
said Buildings.

The construction of Hall 1 is still under progress and the 
benefit of Tunnel do not accrue to Hall 1 yet. As such, the 
portion of Tunnel attributable to Hall 1 cannot be capitalised 
till the completion of Hall 1 as intended for use and so 
the claim of depreciation on such portion of tunnel is also 
untenable.

The approach of allocating the tunnel cost as a directly 
attributable expense is aligned with the accounting standards 
and the guidance provided by ITFG. This ensures that the 
costs associated with the tunnel are proportionately shared 
among the benefiting assets and depreciated over their useful 
lives, which accurately reflects the economic value provided 
by the tunnel to the project as a whole.

As given above, the Company does not have exclusive access/
control over the tunnel, hence, the allocation of contribution 
on the Halls/Structures is considered appropriate instead of 
a separate line item in PPE for “Tunnel”.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the 
Companies Act, 2013. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules there 
under, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ICAI’s Code 
of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
qualified opinion on the Standalone Financial Statements.

Emphasis of Matter

1. 	 We draw attention to the following matters in the Notes to the financial statements:

	 a)	� The reconciliation of the discrepancies of fixed assets as per physical verification report as on 27thSeptember, 
2024 is under progress, as explained in Note no. 3.3 of the Standalone Financial Statements. The consequential 
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financial impact on excess of income over expenditure and on assets could not be ascertained during the year.

	 b)	� Note No. 35.8 of the StandaloneFinancial Statement in respect of outstanding balances as on 31st March, 2024 
which have not been confirmed and any adjustments due to consequent reconciliation, if any, required is not 
ascertainable during the year.

	 c)	� The bifurcation between Interest Received against Own Funds and Borrowed Funds can not done and the 
company has booked an amount of Rs. 617.53 lakhs as “Interest Received on Mobilization Advance” which has 
been credited to CWIP account during the year. It is pertinent to note that as per Ind AS 23 ‘Borrowing Cost’, such 
interest can be reduced from Capital Cost if the related Advances are given from borrowed funds otherwise to 
recognize it under ‘Other Income’.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information. The other information 
comprises the Report of the information included in the Annual report, but does not include the Standalone Financial 
Statements and our auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this Auditor’s 
Report. 

Our opinion on the Standalone Financial Statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Standalone Financial Statements or 
our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Report of the Board of Directors’, including annexures, if any, thereon, If we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with 
governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 with 
respect to the preparation of these Standalone Financial Statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, 
financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity and cash flows of the 
Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015, as amended.

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection 
and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively 
for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
financial statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Standalone Financial Statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
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The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Standalone Financial Statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

	� Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

	�Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we are also responsible for 
expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls. 

	�Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

	�Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

	�Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Standalone Financial Statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Standalone Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

	� Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Standalone Financial Statements that, individually or in 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the Standalone 
Financial Statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in 

	planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and

	 to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the Standalone Financial Statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the Standalone Financial Statements of the current period and are therefore reported in Basis 
of Qualified Opinion para and Emphasis on matter para. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.	� As required by the provisions of ‘Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020’ (“the Order”), issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act is not applicable to the company in terms of 
paragraph 1 sub para 2(iii) of Companies (Auditors Report’s) Order, 2020, as the company is licensed to operate under 
section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013. 

2.	� We are enclosing our report in terms of section 143(5) of the Act, on the basis of such checks of the books and records 
of the company as we considered appropriate and according to the information and explanations given to us by the 
management, in Annexure - ‘A’, on the directions and sub-directions issued by Comptroller and Auditor General of 
India.

3.	� Being a Government company, pursuant to notification no. GSR 463 (E) dated 5th June, 2015 of the Government of 
India, provision of section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable to the company

4.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that: 

	 a)	� We have sought and except for the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph obtained all the 
information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of 
our audit;

	 b)	� Except for the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, in our opinion, proper books of 
account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our examination of those 
books;

	 c)	� The Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone Statement of Income and Expenditure (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), the Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity and the Standalone Statement of Cash 
Flows dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account; 

	 d)	� Except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph above, In our opinion, 
the aforesaid Standalone Financial Statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) specified 
under Section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended;

	 e)	� The matters described in Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph and Emphasis on matter paragraph above, in our 
opinion, may have an effect on the functioning of the company;

	 f )	� Being a Government company, pursuant to notification no. GSR 463 (E) dated 5th June, 2015 of the Government 
of India, provision of sub section (2) of section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable to the company;

	 g)	� With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the 
company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate report in Annexure - ‘B’; and

	 h)	� With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to 
the explanations given to us: 

	 i.	� The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its financial statements 
– Refer Note 35.1 to the financial statements; 

	 ii.	� The Company has made provision, as required under the applicable law or Indian accounting standards, for 
material foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts.
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	 iii.	� Being section 8 company, company is prohibited from the payment of dividend to its members hence the clause 
relating to transfer of amounts to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Company is not applicable.

	 iv.	� a)The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in Note no. 35.23 to 
the Standalone Financial Statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed 
funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the company to or in any other person or 
entities, including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any 
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

		�  b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in Note no. 35.23 to 
the Standalone Financial Statements, no funds have been received by the company from any person or entities, 
including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, 
that the company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; and

		�  c) Based on such audit procedures that were considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, 
nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (a) and 
(b) contain any material misstatement.

	 v.	� Being section 8 company, company is prohibited from the payment of dividend to its members.

	 vi.	� The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) vide notification dated 24 March 2021 has issued the “Companies (Audit 
and Auditors) Amendment Rules, 2021. As per proviso to Rule 3(1), applicable for financial years commencing on 
or after the 1 April, 2022, every company which uses accounting software for maintaining its books of account, 
shall use accounting software for maintain its books of account, shall use only such accounting software which 
has a feature of recording audit trail of each transaction, creating an edit log of each change made in the books 
of account along with the date when such changes were made ensuring that the audit trail cannot be disabled.

As required under above rules, the Company has used Tally ERP 9 customized application as accounting software for 
maintaining its books of account which has no feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility but no person is authorized 
for editing/alterationof transactions recorded once. It is assured for all transactions recorded have not been tampered with 
during the year.

However, the Company believes that no instance of changes in database found as the company has all other necessary 
controls in place which are operating effectively.

For P.D. Agrawal & Co. 
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 001049C

Sd/-
Tarun Gupta

Partner
Membership No. 077468

UDIN:24077468BKDIIC7659

Place - New Delhi

Date - 27th September, 2024
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Annexure - ‘A’ TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

 (Referred to in paragraph 2 under ̀ Report on other legal and regulatory requirements’ section of the Independent Auditor’s 
Report of even date on the Standalone financial statements of India Trade Promotions Organisation for the year ended 31st 
March, 2024) 	

Directions and Sub-Directions issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General of India under section 143(5) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 in respect of annual accounts of India Trade Promotions Organisation for the year 2023-24.

Sr No. Directions/ Sub Directions Auditor’s Responses Action taken 
thereon by 

management 

Impact on 
Standalone 

financial 
statements 

A Directions

1 Whether the Company has 
system in place to process all the 
accounting transactions through 
IT system? If yes, the implications 
of processing of accounting 
transactions outside IT system on 
the integrity of the accounts along 
with the financial implications, if 
any, may be stated.

According to information and 
explanations given to us,
the accounting transactions of 
the Company are accounted in 
‘Tally ERP 9’ accounting software 
and are not processed outside IT 
system.

No action is 
required

No Impact 

2 Whether there is any restructuring 
of an existing loan or cases of 
waiver/ write off of debts/ loans/ 
interest etc. made by a lender 
to the company due to the 
company’s inability to repay the 
loan? If yes, the financial impact 
may be stated.
Whether such cases are properly 
accounted for? (In case, lender 
is a Government company, then 
this direction is also applicable 
for statutory auditor of lender 
company).

According to information and 
explanations given to us, there 
is no restructuring of an existing 
loan or cases of waiver/ write-
off of debts/ loans/ interest etc. 
made by a lender to the Company 
due to the Company’s inability to 
repay the loan.

No action is 
required

No Impact



ANNUAL REPORT 2023-2447th INDIA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION

60

3 Whether funds (grants/subsidy 
etc.) received/ receivable for 
specific schemes from Central/ 
State agencies were properly 
accounted for/ utilized as per its 
term and conditions? List the cases 
of deviation.

Funds for trade promotion are 
received/ receivable by ITPO from 
Central/ State agencies against 
specific schemes. 

According to information
and explanations given to us, 
Funds received/ receivable for 
specific schemes from Central/ 
State agencies were properly 
accounted for/ utilized as per its 
term and conditions.

No action is 
required

No Impact

B Sub-Directions

NIL

For P.D. Agrawal & Co. 

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 001049C

Sd/-
Tarun Gupta

Partner

Membership No. 077468

UDIN: 24077468BKDIIC7659

Place: New Delhi

Date: 27/09/2024
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Annexure ‘B’ TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph 4(g) under `Report on other legal and regulatory requirements’ section of the Independent 
Auditor’s Report of even date on the Standalone financial statements of India Trade Promotion Organisation for the year 
ended 31st March, 2024)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under clause (i) of sub-section 3 of section 143 of the Companies Act, 
2013 (“the Act”) 

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of ‘India Trade Promotion Organisation’ (“the 
Company”) as at 31st March, 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements of the company 
for the year ended on that date.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the 
internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of 
internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance 
of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of 
its business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection 
of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable 
financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting with 
reference to these Standalone Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards 
on Auditing as specified under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal 
financial controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance 
Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these Standalone Financial 
Statements was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls over 
financial reporting with reference to these Standalone financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of 
internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over 
financial reporting with reference to these Standalone Financial Statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit 
opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these Standalone financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting with Reference to these Standalone Financial 
Statements 

A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to these Standalone financial statements is 
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to these Standalone financial statements includes those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
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are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of Standalone financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material 
effect on the Standalone financial statements.

Inherent limitations of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting with reference to these Standalone 
Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these Standalone 
financial statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material 
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial 
control with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Qualified Opinion Management Reply

According to the information and explanations given to 
us and based on our audit, material weakness have been 
identified in the Company’s Internal Financial Controls 
over financial reporting as at March 31, 2024 with regards 
to the discrepancies observed during the Physical 
Verification of Fixed Assets with Fixed Assets Register due 
to lack of management’s responsibility of maintaining a 
proper Fixed Assets register. Also, pending reconciliation, 
the financial impact consequent to such reconciliation 
could not be ascertained, and

The shortage/ excess in assets was primarily reported in 
old movable items viz. Furniture & Fixtures, Computers, 
Servers, Audio Visual Equipments and Office Equipments, 
constituting insignificant value (approx. WDV 85.06 lakhs), 
is under reconciliation. The necessary adjustments if any, 
which in the view of management may not be material, will 
be carried out on completion of the exercise as disclosed 
in Note 3.3 of the Financial Statements. This practice of 
adjustment of shortage/ excess observed during physical 
verification of assets is only done on completion of 
reconciliation and is being followed consistently.

1.	� The Company has a miniscule staff strength, which 
includes both management and operational 
personnel. This limited workforce affects the 
internal financial control system’s operating 
effectiveness. Due to the small team size, there is a 
lack of segregation of duties and a concentration 
of key financial reporting responsibilities on a few 
individuals. This situation increases the risk of errors 
or irregularities not being detected and corrected in 
a timely manner. Management’s ability to implement 
effective monitoring controls is also hampered by 
this constraint. While management has implemented 
compensating controls to mitigate some of these 
risks, the inherent limitations of the current staffing 
situation persist.

Due to retirements, VRS, and other factors, the number 
of regular staff has decreased. To address this shortfall, a 
proposal for Direct Recruitment across various disciplines 
is currently under process.

To strengthen its workforce with high-quality resources in 
the required areas, ITPO has engaged Young Professionals 
and Consultants on a contractual basis for its various 
divisions. Additionally, retired officials have been engaged 
as Consultants for specific tasks and responsibilities, and 
conservancy services, IT management, and the operation 
and maintenance of new facilities have been outsourced.

Responsibilities have been distributed among 
different divisions, officers, and contractual resources 
to ensure efficient allocation of duties and to prevent 
any concentration of tasks that could undermine the 
effectiveness of the internal financial control system.
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2.	� The Company utilizes Tally Data Systems for its 
accounting processes. While Tally is a widely used 
accounting software, it has come to our attention 
that the Company’s implementation of Tally lacks 
adequate security controls. The absence of robust 
security measures increases the risk of unauthorized 
access to financial data, potential data breaches, 
and the manipulation of financial records. These 
security deficiencies compromise the integrity and 
confidentiality of financial information, which is a 
significant concern for internal financial control over 
financial reporting.

The Tally package is installed on an in-house server of 
ITPO, using a designated server package to ensure data 
security. The application is accessed exclusively through a 
protected internal network, which is secured from external 
access, ensuring no unauthorized connections or access 
by outsiders.

Access to Tally data is restricted to authorized personnel 
with unique credentials and defined user-level roles, 
allowing designated individuals to access and process 
financial data only within the limits of their assigned 
responsibilities. This approach upholds the integrity 
and confidentiality of financial information by strictly 
controlling data access based on defined profiles.

Furthermore, there have been no reports of data breaches 
or manipulations of financial records. Management has 
observed no security deficiencies in the Tally software, 
underscoring its commitment to maintaining secure and 
reliable financial reporting processes.

	� A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control over financial 
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

	� In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the 
objectives of the control criteria, the Company has maintained, in all material respects, adequate internal financial 
controls over financial reporting with reference to these Standalone financial statements and such internal financial 
controls over financial reporting with reference to these Standalone financial statements were operating effectively 
as of March 31, 2024, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

	 Explanatory Paragraph

	� We also have audited, in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India, as specified under Section 143(10) of the Act, the Standalone Financial Statements of India Trade Promotion 
Organisation, which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024, and the related Statement of Income & 
Expenditure including the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the Statement 
of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, and our report dated 28th August 2024, expressed a nonqualified opinion.

For P.D. Agrawal & Co. 
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 001049C

Sd/-
Tarun Gupta

Partner
Membership No. 077468

UDIN:24077468BKDIIC7659

Place: New Delhi
Date: 27th September 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of ‘India Trade Promotion Organisation’

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Qualified opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ‘India Trade Promotion Organisation’ (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Holding company”) and its subsidiaries (the holding company and its subsidiaries together referred to as 
“the Group”), its jointly controlled entity and its associate which comprise the consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 
2024, the consolidated Statement of Income and Expenditure (including Other Comprehensive Income), the consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements including a summary ofthe significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information (hereinafter referred to as “the Consolidated Financial Statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, except for the effects of 
matters described in the ‘Basis for qualified opinion’ section of our report, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements 
give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the group, 
jointly controlled entity and associate as at 31st March, 2024 and its consolidated deficit (including other comprehensive 
income), its consolidated changes in equity and its consolidated cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for qualified opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the  
Companies Act, 2013. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the group, jointly controlled 
entity and associate in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements under the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities  
in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements, except for 
the following matters:

1.	 Holding company–ITPO Management Reply:

1.	� We draw attention to Note no. 39.15(g)of Consolidated 
Financial Statements wherein the company has 
incurred an expenditure amounting to Rs 18,308.00 
Lakhs for cost of construction of tunnel out of the 
which an amount of Rs 16,592.44 Lakhs has been 
apportioned over all the structures (except hall no. 1) 
in the ratio of budgeted cost of all structures on July, 
2023, being the month of inauguration of Convention 
Center (Bharat Mandapam) of these halls.

Construction of tunnel was an integral part of the IECC 
project plan for the design/ proposal stage itself, as per 
para 4.4 of the CCEA approval dated 24th Jan. 2017. The 
cost of tunnel was incurred as part of project for traffic 
decongestion during the crowded events at the Bharat 
Mandapam, as per PIB note dt. 19th June 2022.
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In view of the aforesaid, the management has overstated 
the value of building structures by the proportionate cost 
of construction of tunnel amounting to Rs 18308.00 Lakhs 
incurred by ITPO.  The PPE has been understated as well as 
WIP has been overstated by the value of Rs 1715.56 Lakhs, 
the proportionate cost of construction of tunnel for Hall 
no 1 (yet to be capitalized) during the year. The tunnel has 
been completed and inaugurated in the month of June 
2022.

In our opinion, the total cost of tunnel should have been 
shown in separate line item under the Property, Plant and 
Equipment (PPE).

Expenditure on tunnel by ITPO was required in order to get 
future economic benefits from the project as a whole which 
can be considered as the unit of measure for the purpose 
of capitalisation of the said expenditure even though the 
company cannot restrict the access of others for using 
the assets individually. It is apparent that the aforesaid 
expenditure is directly attributable to bringing the asset to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

As per para 6 (Definitions) in Ind AS 16, ‘Property, Plant & 
Equipments are tangible items that: … are held for use in 
production or supply of goods or services...’. In case of ITPO, 
the tunnel is not held by ITPO but is used by the general 
public for free movement around Pragati Maidan complex.

ITPO has no ownership or control over the tunnel.  ITPO 
has no exclusive rights to use the tunnel nor can it restrict 
others to use the tunnel. Accordingly, it does not qualify 
to be recognised as a ‘PPE’ in the books of  ITPO. Therefore, 
the contribution towards the cost of Tunnel cannot be 
considered as a separate asset item.

The benefit of traffic congestion will be a long-term 
benefit for the all the events to be organised in all the 
halls/ convention centre of ITPO and the cost is, therefore, 
included in the cost of PPE as a directly attributable cost. 
The cost of tunnel, after its inauguration,has been rightly 
apportioned over the values of all the building structures 
in the ratio of budgeted cost of structures and depreciated 
over the useful life of the said Buildings.

The construction of Hall 1 is still under progress and the 
benefit of Tunnel do not accrue to Hall 1 yet. As such, 
the portion of Tunnel attributable to Hall 1 cannot be 
capitalised till the completion of Hall 1 as intended for use 
and so the claim of depreciation on such portion of tunnel 
is also untenable.

The approach of allocating the tunnel cost as a directly 
attributable expense is aligned with the accounting 
standards and the guidance provided by ITFG. This ensures 
that the costs associated with the tunnel are proportionately 
shared among the benefiting assets and depreciated over 
their useful lives, which accurately reflects the economic 
value provided by the tunnel to the project as a whole.

As given above, the Company does not have exclusive 
access/control over the tunnel, hence, the allocation 
of contribution on the Halls / Structures is considered 
appropriate instead of a separate line item in PPE for 
“Tunnel”.



ANNUAL REPORT 2023-2447th INDIA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION

66

2.	 Subsidiary company–KTPO

Non- Provision of Income Tax

The Company’s charitable status has been challenged by 
the Income Tax department and matter is subjudice. Given 
this situation, the Company has to make provision in the 
books for the Income Tax liability at least for those years 
where demand has already been raised by the Income Tax 
Department.

As per the Note 39.10(iii) of the Consolidated Financial 
Statement regarding the status of the pending litigations 
with the Income Tax department, the details are as follows:

“The Company had obtained exemption u/s 10(23C)(iv) 
of Income Tax Act, 1961 up to assessment year 2008-09. 
The Company applied for extension of exemption for the 
assessment years 2009-10, 2010-11, and 2011-12.

The Chief Commissioner of Income Tax has passed orders 
rejecting the applications for renewal of approval u/s 
10(23C) (iv) of Income Tax Act, 1961. 

The Company had filed writ petition in the Hon'ble High 
Court of Karnataka, challenging the rejection orders of the 
Chief Commissioner of Income Tax. The Hon'ble High court 
of Karnataka passed orders setting aside the orders passed 
by the Chief Commissioner of Income Tax u/s 10(23C)(iv) 
of Income Tax Act rejecting the renewal of approval as 
sought by the Company, at the same time directing the 
department to decide on withdrawal or otherwise of the 
registration when such an occasion arising in future.

For Assessment Years 2010-11 to 2014-15, the Assessing 
Officer had denied the exemption claimed by the Company 
u/s 11/ 10(23c)(iv) by applying the amendment of Sec. 
2(15) of the Income Tax Act by the Finance Act 2008.

The Status of the Income Tax Assessments are as follows:

The organization had obtained exemption u/s 10(23C) (iv) 
and form 10AC of the Income Tax Act, 1961. For Assessment 
Years 2010-11 to 2014-15, the Assessing Officer had denied 
the exemption claimed by the Company u/s 111 10(23c) 
(iv) by applying the amended provisions of Sec. 2(15) of 
the Act. In response, the Company has filed appeals before 
the Hon'ble Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) stating 
that the organization does not attract the amended 
provision of Section 2(15) of the Act and is eligible to claim 
exemption u/s 10(23c) (iv) of the Act. Further, the stand 
of the Company has been ratified for the Assessment 
Years 2010-11,2011-12 and 2012-13 by the acceptance 
of its Appeals by the Commissioner of Income Tax vide 
its Orders dated 30-08-2017, 16-06-2016 and 14-09-2017 
respectively.

However, the Income Tax Department has filed Appeals 
with Income Tax Appellate Tribunal for the Assessment 
Years 2010-11, 2011-12 and 2012-13 against the Orders 
of Commissioner of income Tax (Appeals) passed in favor 
of Company. In Respect of Assessment Year 2010-11, the 
Appeal filed by the Income Tax Department was dismissed 
by the Income Tax appellate Tribunal vide Order Dated 13-
07-2018.

For the assessment year 2016-17, the assessing officer 
issued intimation Ws 143(1) of the Income tax act dated 01-
03-2018 disallowing claim of accumulation under section 
11(2) of the Act since Form 10 (in electronic mode) was not 
furnished with in the due date. In response the Company 
has filed appeal before the Commissioner of Appeals to 
condone the delay in filing Form 10 in electronic mode 
and allow the accumulation amount uis 11(2) of the Act. 
Further the Department vide circular no. 7/2018 dated 
28-12-2018 had condoned the delay in filing Form 10(in 
electronic mode) in general.

In view of the above facts, the Company is of the view 
that it has got exemptions U/s 10(23c) (iv) and form 
10AC of Income Tax Act ,1961 and since the Organization 
is confident of getting favorable orders, no provision 
for income tax is made in the accounts but included in 
contingent liabilities.
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Assessment 
year

Demand 
Raised 

(Rs.)

TDS 
receivable 

as per 
books of 
account 

(Rs.)

Current Position Section 
under 
which 

Assessment 
done

2009-10 Assessment 
pending

7.16 lakhs Assessment pending -

2010-11 Nil 8.35 lakhs Appeal filed against 
Assessment allowed.  Appeal 
filed by the Department before 
Appellate Tribunal dismissed.

143 (3)

2011-12 Nil 31.38 lakhs 143 (3)

2012-13 Nil 48.80 lakhs 143 (3)

2013-14 238.80 
lakhs

70.50 lakhs Appeal filed and pending. 143 (3)

2014-15 158.75 
lakhs

83.57 lakhs 143 (3)

2015-16 Pending 95.06 lakhs Assessment pending

2016-17 239.83 
lakhs

70.53 lakhs Appeal filed with Asst. 
Commissioner of Income 
Tax (Appeals) against the 
intimation received u/s 
143(1) pending. On 22-01-
2024 an order received under 
section 154 read with section 
143(1) wherein the demand 
is revoked but no refund 
received till date.

2017-18 Nil 321.37 lakhs Assessment Completed 143 (3)

2018-19 Assessment 
completed

- Assessment Completed with 
a demand of Rs.1155.17 
lakhs. Appeal filed against the 
demand with Commissioner 
of Income Tax (Appeals) 
NFAC against the order under 
section 143(3) rws 143(3A) 
and 143(3B) on 21.9.2021, on 
31-03-2022 received an order 
under section 154 read with 
section 143(3) wherein the 
demand is revoked

143(3)

2019-20 Assessment 
pending

76.89 lakhs Assessment pending -

2020-21 Assessment 
pending

64.40 lakhs Assessment pending -

2021-22 Assessment 
pending

42.64 lakhs Assessment pending -

2022-23 Assessment 
pending

34.21 lakhs Assessment pending -

2023-24 Assessment 
pending

82.56 lakhs Assessment pending -

2024-25 Return to 
be Filed

117.48 lakhs Assessment pending -

The Status of the Income Tax Assessments are as follows:

Assessment Year TDS Defaults (Rs.)

2022-23 Rs. 0.34 Lakhs

2021-22 Rs. 0.44 Lakhs

Prior Years Rs. 14.97 Lakhs
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The Company had received notice from the Additional 
Commissioner of Income Tax (Tech- I) proposing to 
cancel the approval granted under section 10 (23c) (iv) of 
the Income Tax Act for the Assessment Years 2003-04 to 
2008-09 with effect from 1.4.2009, (i.e.; from the date of 
amendment of section 2(15) and onwards). The Company 
had filed written submissions for reconsideration of the 
notice and no further communications have been received 
by the Company in this regard.

The Company had also received Show Cause Notice for 
cancellation of registration under section 12AA of the 
Income Tax Act.  In response, the Company had made 
representation to the Income Tax department for non-
cancellation of registration.  Decision in this regard is still 
awaited.

For the Assessment year 2016-17, the assessing officer 
issued intimation on 17.3.2018 under section 143(1) of the 
Income Tax Act disallowing claim of accumulation since 
Form 10 (in electronic mode) was not submitted within 
due date.  An appeal has been filed before the Assistant 
Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) to condone the 
delay which is pending.

For the Assessment year 2018-19, the assessing officer 
issued an assessment order under section 143(3) read 
with section 143(3A), 143(3B) of the Income Tax Act raising 
a demand of Rs.1155.17 lakhs against which the Company 
has filed an appeal before the Commissioner of Income 
Tax (Appeals)(NFAC) on 21.9.2021, on 31-03-2022 the 
Company has received an order under section 154 read 
with section 143(3) wherein the demand is revoked.

The Company has not made any provision towards Income 
Tax liability in the financial Statements.  It has shown in 
the said statements an amount of 767.45 lakhs as Tax 
refundable by the Income Tax department.  However, the 
department has adjusted/retained these amounts against 
its demands.”  

Considering the above facts, and the amended provisions 
of section 2(15) of the Income Tax Act, the Company should 
have provided for the Income Tax for the Assessment years 
2013-14, 2014-15, 2016-17, for which demand is raised as 
reported in the details given above. For the other financial 
years, we are unable to quantify the amount of provision 
in the absence of required information/ details.
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Material uncertainty related to going concern

1.	 Jointly controlled entity– NCTI

We draw attention that the winding up proceedings of 
NCTI have been initiated with the approval of the Cabinet 
and the liquidator has been appointed in the AGM dated 
26th November, 2021. Hence the company is under 
liquidation. (Refer note no. 39.29(d) of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements).

Factually correct. Refer note no. 39.29(d) of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to the following matters in the notes to the consolidated financial statements:

1.	 Holding company–ITPO

	 a)	� The reconciliation of the discrepancies of fixed assets as per physical verification report as on 27thSeptember, 
2024 is under progress, as explained in Note no. 3.3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The consequential 
financial impact on excess of income over expenditure and on assets could not be ascertained during the year.

	 b)	� Note No. 39.14 of the Consolidated Financial Statement in respect of outstanding balances as on 31st March, 2024 
which have not been confirmed and any adjustments due to consequent reconciliation, if any, required is not 
ascertainable during the year.

	 c)	� The bifurcation between Interest Received against Own Funds and Borrowed Funds cannot done and the 
company has booked an amount of Rs. 617.53 lakhs as “Interest Received on Mobilization Advance” which has 
been credited to CWIP account during the year. It is pertinent to note that as per Ind AS 23 ‘Borrowing Cost’, such 
interest can be reduced from Capital Cost if the related Advances are given from borrowed funds otherwise to 
recognize it under ‘Other Income’.

2.	 Subsidiary company–KTPO

	� We draw attention to Note 39.26(iii) of the consolidated financial statements wherein the Company has disclosed no 
short fall as on 31st March 2024. The Company has make payment of Rs. 2.00 Lakhs in excess of Board approval for the 
construction of AV Room in the Government School during the financial year 2023-24 as reported by the auditor in his 
report dated 14.09.2024. The Companies Act mandates that in case the Company fails to spend the requisite sum to 
meet its CSR obligation within the financial year, it shall fulfill its obligation as per section 135 of the Companies Act 
read with CSR Rules and Schedule VII of the Companies Act. During the year 23-24 the Company has made expenditure 
amounting to Rs. 25.52 Lakhs.

3.	 Subsidiary company–TNTPO

	 a)	� We draw attention to Note 39.26(ii) of the consolidated financial statements wherein the Company had unspent 
CSR Expenditure of Rs. 149.54 Lakhs as on 31.3.2024. It is observed that the same unspent CSR amount accumulated 
since 2018-19. The company has to comply with the mandatory CSR expenditure provisions of Companies Act, 
2013.

	 b)	� Pending Judicial decision on withdrawal of exemption under Section 10(23C)(iv) of the Income Tax Act, 1961, no 
provision for Income Tax and deferred tax have been made by the Company. Now the case is pending before the 
Hon’ble Supreme Court of India. (Refer Note No. 39.10(ii) of the consolidated financial statements)
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3.	 Subsidiary company–ISL

	 a)	� We draw attention to Note 39.5 of the consolidated financial statements wherein the Company has not annual 
filing with the Registrar of Companies (ROC) for the F.Y. 2020-21,2021-22 and 2022-23, which highlights specific 
contingencies which is reproduced as follow:

	 i)	� These instances of non-compliance encompass Section 137 (annual filing of AOC-4), Section 92 (filing of form 
MGT-7)

	 ii)	 Failure to comply Section 139 (filing of form ADT-1 for auditor's appointment).

	 iii)	� Failure to file Form DIR-12 for the resignation of Ms. Rupa Dutta, Mr. Amitabh Kumar, Mr. Rajesh Agarwal and Mr. 
Vibhu Nayar from the position of director of the company.

	 iv)	� Failure to file Form DIR-12 for the appointment of Dr. C Vanlalramsang, CA Rajat Agarwal and Dr.Krishan Kumar as 
the director of the company.

	 v)	� Failure to file Form DIR-12 for the appointment of Ms. Renu Lata, Sh. Raj Kumar Thakur and resignation of Dr.Krishan 
Kumar was not filed up to date of report of ISL.

	 b)	� We draw attention to Note 39.17 of the Consolidated Financial Statements wherein the Company is exploring 
the option of “Project of a 5-star hotel at Pragati Maidan'". The Cabinet Committee on Economic Affairs (CCEA) 
approved the monetization of 3.70 acres of land on a 99-year fixed lease basis on 4th December, 2019for the 
development and operation of a 5-star hotel by the Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) known as ITPO Service Limited, 
a wholly owned subsidiary of India Trade Promotion Organisation.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor’s report thereon

The holding company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Corporate Governance Report and Report of the Board of Directors’, including annexures thereon, but does not include 
the consolidated financial statements and our Auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available to us after 
the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information, and we will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated.

When we read the Corporate Governance Report and Report of the Board of Directors, including annexures, if any, thereon, 
if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged 
with governance.

Responsibilities of the management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements

The holding company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in term of the requirements of the Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position, consolidated financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated changes in equity and 
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consolidated cash flows of the group, jointly controlled entity and associate in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) specified under Section 133 of the Act 
read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended from time to time.

The Board of Directors of the respective companies included in the group, jointly controlled entity and associate are 
responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding 
the assets of the group, jointly controlled entity and associate and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were 
operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation 
and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements by the Board of Directors of the holding company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors of the respective companies included in the 
group, jointly controlled entity and associate are responsible for assessing the ability of the group, jointly controlled entity 
and associate to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the group, jointly controlled 
entity and associate or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors of the respective companies included in the group, jointly controlled entity and associate are 
responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the group, jointly controlled entity and associate.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we along with auditors of subsidiary companies, jointly controlled entity and 
associate, exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

	� Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

	 �Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we are also responsible for 
expressing our opinion on whether the holding company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and 
the operating effectiveness of such controls.

	 �Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 
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	 �Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the group’s, jointly controlled entity’s and associate’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our Auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the group, jointly controlled entity and associate to cease to continue as a going concern.

	 �Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

	 �Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group, jointly controlled entity and associate to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the financial statements of such 
entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors. For the other 
entities included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other 
auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. Our responsibilities in this regard are further described in section 
titled ‘Other matters’ in this audit report.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the holding company and such other entities included in the 
consolidated financial statements of which we are independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the current period and are therefore reported in Basis 
of Qualified Opinion para and Emphasis on matter para. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other matters

We did not audit the financial statements of subsidiary companies namely Tamilnadu Trade Promotion Organisation, 
Karnataka Trade Promotion Organisation and ITPO Services Ltd., jointly controlled entity namely National Center for Trade 
Information (under liquidation) and associate namely Jammu and Kashmir Trade Promotion Organisation, whose financial 
statements reflect total assets of Rs. 78765.04 lakhs as at 31st March, 2024, and total revenues of Rs. 5874.93lakhs, total 
comprehensive surplus (net) of Rs. 3372.03 lakhs and cash outflows (net) of Rs. 5514.07 lakhs for the year ended on that 
date, as considered in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Financial Statements of subsidiary companies namely Tamilnadu Trade Promotion Organisation, Karnataka Trade 
Promotion Organisation and ITPO Services Ltd., jointly controlled entity namely National Center for Trade Information and 
associate namely Jammu and Kashmir Trade Promotion Organisation have been audited by its auditor’s whose report have 
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been furnished to us by the holding company’s management except for the Audit Report of associate namely Jammu and 
Kashmir Trade Promotion Organisation and our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements, in so far it relates to the 
amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associate and our report 
in terms of Section 143(3), in so far it relates to these subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associate is based solely on 
the reports of the respective auditor.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our ‘Report on other legal and regulatory requirements’ below, 
is not modified in respect of above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other 
auditors and the financial statements/ financial information certified by the management.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

1.	� Being a Government company, pursuant to notification no. GSR 463 (E) dated 5th June, 2015 of the Government of 
India, provision of section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable to the group, jointly controlled entity and 
associate.

2.	� As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of report of the other auditors 
on separate financial statements and the other financial information of subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and 
associate, as noted in the ‘other matter’ paragraph we report, to the extent applicable, that:

	 a)	� We/the other auditors whose report we have relied upon have sought and except for the matter described in 
the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of 
our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements;

	 b)	� Except for the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, in our opinion, proper books of 
account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements have been 
kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and reports of the other auditors;

	 c)	� the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Income and Expenditure (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows dealt with by this report are in agreement with the relevant books of account maintained for the 
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements;

	 d)	� in our opinion, except for the matters described in ‘Basis for qualified opinion’ and ‘Emphasis of matter’ paragraphs 
above, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) 
specified under Section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as 
amended from time to time;

	 e)	� the matters described in ‘Basis for qualified opinion’ and ‘Emphasis of matter’ paragraphs above, in our opinion, 
may have an adverse effect on the functioning of the group, jointly controlled entity and associate;

	 f )	� being government companies, pursuant to notification no. GSR 463 (E) dated 5th June, 2015 of the Government 
of India, provision of sub section (2) of section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable to the group, 
jointly controlled entity and associate;

	 g)	� with respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements and operating 
effectiveness of such controls of the holding company audited by us, and of the subsidiary companies, jointly 
controlled entity and associate, not audited by us (as reported by their auditors), refer to our separate report in 
Annexure - ‘A’;



ANNUAL REPORT 2023-2447th INDIA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION

74

	 h)	� With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the report of the other auditors 
of separate financial statements as also the other financial information of the subsidiary companies, jointly 
controlled entity and associate, as noted in the other matter paragraph:

		  i)	� The Consolidated Financial Statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated 
financial position of the group, jointly controlled entity and associate – Refer note 39.1 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements;

		  ii) 	� The holding company and its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associate companies have not entered 
into any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material foreseeable 
losses as at 31 March 2024;

		  iii)	� Being section 8 companies, group, jointly controlled entity and associate are prohibited from the payment 
of dividend to its members hence the clause relating to transfer of amounts to the Investor Education and 
Protection Fund by the group, jointly controlled entity and associate companies is not applicable

		  iv)	� a) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity 
and associate have represented to us and the other auditors of such subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity 
and associate respectively that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in Note no. 39.33 of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from 
borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Holding Company and its 
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associate to or in any other person or entities, including foreign 
entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the 
Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the respective Holding Company and its subsidiaries, jointly controlled 
entity and associate (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries;

			�   b) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and 
associate have represented to us and the other auditors of such subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and 
associate respectively that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in Note no. 39.33 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements no funds(which are material either individually or in the aggregate) have 
been received by the Holding Company and its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associate from any 
person or entities, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded 
in writing or otherwise, that the Holding Company and its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associate 
shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security 
or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

			�   c) Based on such audit procedures that has been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances 
performed by us and those performed by the auditors of the subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and 
associate, nothing has come to our or other auditor’s notice that has caused us or the other auditor’s to 
believe that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material misstatement.

	 v.)	 Being section 8 company, company is prohibited from the payment of dividend to its members.
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	 vi.)	� The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) vide notification dated 24 March 2021 has issued the “Companies (Audit 
and Auditors) Amendment Rules, 2021. As per proviso to Rule 3(1), applicable for financial years commencing on 
or after the 1 April, 2022, every company which uses accounting software for maintaining its books of account, 
shall use accounting software for maintain its books of account, shall use only such accounting software which 
has a feature of recording audit trail of each transaction, creating an edit log of each change made in the books 
of account along with the date when such changes were made ensuring that the audit trail cannot be disabled.

		�  As required under above rules, the Company has used Tally ERP 9 customized application as accounting software 
for maintaining its books of account which has no feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility but no person 
is authorized for editing/alterationof transactions recorded once. It is assured for all transactions recorded have 
not been tampered with during the year.

		�  However, the Company believes that no instance of changes in database found as the company has all other 
necessary controls in place which are operating effectively.

For P.D. Agrawal & Co. 

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 001049C

Sd/-
Tarun Gupta

Partner
Membership No. 077468

UDIN:24077468BKDIII4857

Place: New Delhi
Date: 27th September, 2024



ANNUAL REPORT 2023-2447th INDIA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION

76

Annexure-‘A’ to the Independent Auditor’s Report

(Referred to in paragraph (g) under ‘Report on other legal and regulatory requirements’ section of the Independent 
Auditor’s Report of even date on the consolidated financial statements of India Trade Promotion Organisation for the 
year ended 31st March, 2024)

Report on the internal financial controls under clause (i) of sub-section 3 of section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 
(“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to the financial statements of ‘India Trade Promotion 
Organisation’ (“the holding company”) and its subsidiaries (the holding company and its subsidiaries together referred to 
as “the Group”), jointly controlled entity and associate for the year ended 31st March, 2024, in conjunction with our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the group, jointly controlled entity and associate for the year ended on that date.

Management’s responsibility for internal financial controls

The respective Board of Directors of the holding company, its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associate are 
responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal control with reference to 
financial statements reporting criteria established by the respective  company considering the essential components of 
internal control stated in the “Guidance note on audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting” (the “Guidance 
note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). These responsibilities include the design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the 
prevention and detection of frauds and errors,the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the group's, jointly controlled entity’s and associate’s internal financial controls 
with reference to consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
‘Guidance note on audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting (the ‘Guidance note’) and the Standards on 
Auditing, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of 
the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of internal financial 
controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those standards and the Guidance note 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements was established and maintained and if 
such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls 
system with reference to consolidated financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls 
with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditor in terms of 
their reports referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the company’s internal financial controls system with reference to financial statements.

Meaning of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements

A company’s internal financial control with reference to consolidated financial statements is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
financial control with reference to financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and Directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, 
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements, 
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error 
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control with reference to financial 
statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate.

Qualified opinion

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the audit of subsidiary company- KTPO by the 
other auditor, the following material weaknesses have been identified in the Company’s Internal Financial Controls over 
financial reporting as at March 31,2024

1.	 Holding company–ITPO Management Replies

a.	� With regards to the discrepancies observed during the 
Physical Verification of Fixed Assets with Fixed Assets 
Register due to lack of management’s responsibility of 
maintaining a proper Fixed Assets register. Also, pending 
reconciliation, the financial impact consequent to such 
reconciliation could not be ascertained, and 

The shortage/ excess in assets was primarily reported in 
old movable items viz. Furniture & Fixtures, Computers, 
Servers, Audio Visual Equipments and Office Equipments, 
constituting insignificant value (approx.WDV 85.06 lakhs), 
is under reconciliation. The necessary adjustments if any, 
which in the view of management may not be material, will 
be carried out on completion of the exercise as disclosed 
in Note 3.3 of the Financial Statements. This practice of 
adjustment of shortage/ excess observed during physical 
verification of assets is only done on completion of 
reconciliation and is being followed consistently.

b.	� The Company has a miniscule staff strength, which 
includes both management and operational 
personnel. This limited workforce affects the internal 
financial control system’s operating effectiveness. Due 
to the small team size, there is a lack of segregation of 
duties and a concentration of key financial reporting 
responsibilities on a few individuals. This situation 
increases the risk of errors or irregularities not 
being detected and corrected in a timely manner. 
Management’s ability to implement effective 
monitoring controls is also hampered by this constraint. 
While management has implemented compensating 
controls to mitigate some of these risks, the inherent 
limitations of the current staffing situation persist.

Due to retirements, VRS, and other factors, the number 
of regular staff has decreased. To address this shortfall, a 
proposal for Direct Recruitment across various disciplines is 
currently under process.

To strengthen its workforce with high-quality resources in 
the required areas, ITPO has engaged Young Professionals 
and Consultants on a contractual basis for its various 
divisions. Additionally, retired officials have been engaged 
as Consultants for specific tasks and responsibilities, and 
conservancy services, IT management, and the operation 
and maintenance of new facilities have been outsourced.

Responsibilities have been distributed among different 
divisions, officers, and contractual resources to 
ensure efficient  allocation of duties and to prevent 
any concentration of tasks that could undermine the 
effectiveness of the internal financial control system.

c.	� The  Company  utilizes Tally Data Systems for its 
accounting processes. While Tally is a widely used 
accounting software, it has come to our attention 
that the Company’s implementation of Tally lacks 
adequate security controls. The absence of robust 
security measures increases the risk of unauthorized 
access to financial data, potential data breaches, and 
the manipulation of financial records. These security 
deficiencies compromise the integrity and confidentiality 
of financial information, which is a significant concern 
for internal financial control over financial reporting.

The Tally package is installed on an in-house server of ITPO, 
using a designated server package to ensure data security. 
The application is accessed exclusively through a protected 
internal network, which is secured from external access, 
ensuring no unauthorized connections or access by outsiders.

Access to Tally data is restricted to authorized personnel with 
unique credentials and defined user-level roles, allowing 
designated individuals to access and process financial data 
only within the limits of their assigned responsibilities. 
This approach upholds the integrity and confidentiality 
of financial information by strictly controlling data access 
based on defined profiles.
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Furthermore, there have been no reports of data breaches 
or manipulations of financial records. Management has 
observed no security deficiencies in the Tally software, 
underscoring its commitment to maintaining secure and 
reliable financial reporting processes.

2.	 Subsidiary company–KTPO

a.	� The minuscule staff strength of the Company is 
affecting the internal financial control system and its 
operating effectiveness.

The Company has adopted policies and procedures for 
ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 
including adherence to the Company’s policies, the 
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection 
of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of 
the accounting records and timely preparation of reliable 
financial disclosures.

Hence the Company has adequate internal controls in place 
and the Company is of the view that the controls are adequate 
enough considering the size of the company and its present 
activities effectively with the existing staff strength.

b.	� The internal control system for complying with 
applicable provisions of various statutes [TDS under 
Income tax Act and GST] is inadequate which could 
result in payment of additional levies and damages.

c.	� The company has to closely monitor the CSR 
expenditure to prevent non compliance with section 
135 read with CSR Rules, Schedule VII of the Companies 
Act.

	

A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control over financial reporting, 
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of holding company and subsidiary company- 
KTPO’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and to the auditor of subsidiary 
company - KTPO, except for the possible effects of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the 
objectives of the control criteria, the holding company and its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associate have, in all 
material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to the financial statements and such internal financial 
controls with reference to the financial statements were operating effectively as at 31st March, 2024, based on the internal 
control with reference to financial statements criteria established by the group, jointly controlled entity and associate 
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance note on ‘Audit of internal financial controls 
over financial reporting’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

Other matters

Our aforesaid report under section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial 
controls with reference to the financial statements insofar as it relates to the subsidiary companies namely Karnataka Trade 
Promotion Organisation and ITPO Services Ltd., jointly controlled entity namely National Center for Trade Information 
and associate namely Jammu and Kashmir Trade Promotion Organisation, is based on the corresponding report of the 
auditor of the respective companies. Further, the said report as per the report of auditor of Tamilnadu Trade Promotion 
Organisation, subsidiary company is exempt for the said company for the current year as per notification no. GSR 464(E) 
dated 5th June 2015 as amended by notification no. GSR 583 (E)dated 13thJune2017.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of above matter.

For P.D. Agrawal & Co. 
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 001049C

Sd/-
Tarun Gupta

Partner
Membership No. 077468

UDIN: 24077468BKDIII4857 

Place: New Delhi
Date:  27th September, 2024
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Annexure- IV
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Annexure- V
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Annexure- VI

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

1.	 THE COMPANY’S GOVERNANCE PHILOSOPHY 

	� India Trade Promotion Organization (ITPO), the premier trade promotion agency of the Ministry of Commerce 
& Industry, Government of India, is committed to showcase excellence achieved by the country in diverse fields 
especially trade, commerce and governance.

	� ITPO is fully committed towards good corporate governance entailing trusteeship, empowerment and accountability 
of the management while remaining proactive to the Government policies.   ITPO’s Governance process is focused 
towards its mission of “wide spectrum of services to trade and industry and acting as a catalyst for growth of India's 
trade”. The company follows guidelines on Corporate Governance issued by the Department of Public Enterprises. 

The main activities and services of ITPO are:

	� To promote, organize and participate in industrial trade through fairs and exhibitions in India and abroad and to take 
all measures incidental thereto for boosting up country’s trade	

	� To publicize in India and abroad international trade fairs and exhibitions to be held in India and to mobilize the foreign 
participants to participate in them.	

	 To organize trade in commodities connected with or relating to such fairs, exhibitions in India and abroad.	

	� To promote exports and to explore new markets for traditional items of exports and develop export of new items with 
a view to maintaining, diversifying and expanding the export trade.	

	 To support and assist small and medium enterprise to access markets – both in India and abroad.	

	 To prepare and update trade related database for dissemination among trade and industry in India.	

	 Organizing seminars, conferences and workshops on trade related issues.	

	� To lease out its exhibition halls and facilities to other organizers for holding trade related events.	

The compliance of the company on Corporate Governance and the disclosure requirements under Companies Act are 
given below:

2.	 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

2.1	 Size of the Board

	� ITPO is a Section 8 (earlier section-25) Company as per the Companies Act, 2013 and the President of India presently 
holds 100% of the total paid-up share capital. As per Articles of Association, the power to appoint Directors rests with 
the President of India.  In terms of Articles of Association of the Company, the strength of our Board shall not be less 
than four Directors or more than twelve Directors.

2.2	 Composition of the Board

	� The Board comprised of 7 Directors, out of which 2 were Functional Directors including the Chairman and Managing 
Director, 4 were Nominee Directors of Government of India and 1 Independent Director.  
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	 Shri Pradeep Singh Kharola continued as Chairman and Managing Director of ITPO since 20th December, 2023.  

2.3	 Board Meeting and Attendance

	� The meetings of the Board of Directors are normally held at the Registered Office of the Company. The meetings 
are generally scheduled well in advance and the Notice, detailed Board agenda, management reports and other 
explanatory Board notes are circulated to the Directors.  The members of the Board have complete access to all 
information of the Company.  The Senior Management is also invited to the Board meetings to provide additional 
input to the items being discussed by the Board, as and when required.

	� During the financial year ended 31st March, 2024, the Board Meetings were held on 28th August, 2023, 4th October, 
2023 and 22nd January, 2024, respectively. 

	� The details of number of Board Meetings attended by Directors, attendance at last Annual General Meeting (AGM), 
number of other Directorships in Body Corporates (other than ITPO) held by Directors during the financial year 2023-
24 are tabled below:

Sl. No. Name of Director Board Meetings Attendance  at last 
AGM held on  
(31st October 2023)                                 

As on March 31, 2024
(No. of other Director-ship

Held during 
the tenure

Attendance 

1. Shri Pradeep Singh Kharola 3 3 Yes 3 (NHIIMP Ltd., KTPO, TNTPO)

2. Ms. Arti Bhatnagar 3 2 No 6 (BHEL, HMT, Invest India, IICC 
Ltd., MMTC Ltd., STC Ltd.)

3. Shri Rajat Agarwal 3 3 No 5 (JKTPO, KTPO, WBTPO, 
TNTPO, ISL,)

4. Sh. Anant Swarup Nil Nil No Nil

5. Sh. Abhishek Singh 3 3 No Nil

6. Dr. Krishan Kumar 3 2 No Nil

7. Ms. Mercy Epao 3 2 Yes 3 (NSIC, DSIIDC, NVCFL)

8. Shri Om Prakash Chalniwale 3 3 Yes -

2.4	 Information required to be placed before the Board of Directors:	

	� The Board has complete access to any information of the Company. The information regularly supplied to the Board 
includes:	

1.	 Annual operating plans, budgets and any updates.

2.	 Annual Accounts, Directors’ Report, etc.

3.	 Minutes of meetings of audit committee and other committees of the Board.

4.	 Major Investments, information of Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures, Strategic Alliances, etc.

5.	 Award of large Contracts.

6.	 Disclosure of Interest by Directors about directorship and committee positions occupied by them in other Companies.

7.	 Report on the status of various ongoing projects/Schemes and Budget Utilization.
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8.	 Any significant development in Human Resources/ Industrial Relations like signing of wage agreement, etc.

9.	 Non-compliance of any regulatory, statutory and shareholders’ service.

10.	 Short-term investment of surplus funds.

11.	 Other materially important information including the requirements of 	 Companies Act.

3.	 COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has constituted the following Committees:

i)	 Audit Committee

ii) 	 Remuneration Committee

iii)	 CSR Committee.

3.1	� Composition of Audit Committee, Meetings held and Attendance of 	 Audit Committee during the year 
2023-24

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance guidelines and accordingly, One Audit Committee Meetings 
were held on 28th August, 2023.

S. No . Name of Committee Members Designation Position in 
Committee

Meetings

Held 
during the 

tenure

Attendance

1. Ms. Arti Bhatnagar Part Time official        
Director

Chairperson 1 1

2. Shri Rajat Agarwal Part Time official        
Director

Member 1 1

3. Shri Om Prakash 
Chalniwale 

Independent 
Director

Member 1 1

3.2	� Composition of Remuneration Committee, Meetings held and attendance in Remuneration Committee during 
the year 2023-2024 

During the Year 2023-24,   One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held on 12th October, 2023.

Sl No . Name of Remuneration 
Committee Members

Designation Position in 
Remuneration 

Committee

Meetings

Held during 
the tenure

Attendance

1. Ms. Arti Bhatnagar Part Time official 
Director

Chairperson 1 1

2. Shri Rajat Agarwal Part Time official        
Director

Member 1 0

3. Shri Om Prakash 
Chalniwale 

Independent 
Director

Member 1 1
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3.3	 Composition of CSR Committee, Meetings held and attendance in CSR Committee during the year 2023-2024.

The Company has complied with the Guidelines issued by the Department of Public Enterprises/Companies Act, 2013. 

S. No . Name of CSR Committee 
Members

Designation Position in CSR 
Committee

Meetings

Held during the 
tenure

Attendance

1. Ms. Arti Bhatnagar Part Time official        
Director

Chairperson - -

2. Sh. Rajat Agarwal Executive Director Member - -

3. Ms. Mercy Epao Part Time official        
Director

Member - -

4. Sh Om Prakash Chalaniwale Independent 
Director

Member - -

During the Year 2023-24, No meeting of the CSR Committee was held 

4.	 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

	� The remuneration of CMD & ED is as per the terms of appointment issued by Govt. of India and rules applicable 
thereof. The Company pays a sitting Fee of Rs.30,000/- per meeting, to each part-time Independent Director who 
attends any Board Meeting or Meeting of any Sub-Committee of the Board. However, no remuneration is paid to the 
part-time Government Nominee Director.

5.	 GENERAL BODY MEETING.  

	 Date, time and location where the last three Annual General Meetings were held, are as under.             

Year Date Time Venue Special Resolution

2021-22 30.11.2021 & 
31.03.2022 
(Adjourned 
Meeting)

03:00 PM Pragati Bhawan
Pragati Maidan
New Delhi-   110 001

Nil

2022-23 20.12.2022 10:30 AM Pragati Bhawan
Pragati Maidan
New Delhi-110 001

Nil

2023-24 31.10.2023 04.00 PM Bharat Mandapam
New Delhi-110 001

Nil

Date, time and location where the last Extraordinary General Meeting was held, are as under.

Year Date Time Venue Special Resolution

2018-19 14.12.2018 12:30 PM Pragati Bhawan
Pragati Maidan
New Delhi-   110 001

Yes - One

6. 	 DISCLOSURES

	 i)	� The transactions with related parties are disclosed as per the requirement of the Companies Act, 2013.
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	 ii)	�  ITPO is complying with the applicable accounting standards.  Only after the review of financial statements by 
Statutory Auditors and CAG, the financial statements are passed by the Board & Shareholders.

	 III)	� There are no penalties or strictures imposed on the Company by statutory authority on any matter related to any 
guidelines issued by the Government during the last three years.

	 IV)	� With respect to the Whistle Blower Policy, the Policy has been formulated and implemented after the approval of 
the Competent Authority.

	 V)	� The Board and the Senior Management of ITPO have no personal interest, which has a potential conflict with the 
interest of the Company. 

	 VI)	� A Comprehensive Risk Management Policy, as per DPE Guidelines, was approved by the Board on 26-03-2013 and 
has since been implemented.

	 VII)	� No item of expenditure was debited in the Books of Accounts which was not for the purpose of the organization.

	 VIII)	� No expenses of personal nature of the Members of the Board of Directors were incurred out of the funds of the 
Company.

7. 	 MEANS OF COMMUNICATION

	� The Company is an unlisted, Section 8 company (earlier section 25) of the new Companies Act, 2013 and, therefore, its 
quarterly or half-yearly results are not communicated like listed companies. 

8.	 AUDIT QUALIFICATION

	� The audit observations/comments, if any, and replies, thereto, of the management for the financial year 2023-24 will 
be a part of the Annual Report.

9.	 TRAINING OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

	 Training of Directors is being conducted as per the need of the Directors.

10.	 WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY

	� ITPO has formulated its Whistle Blower Policy and the same has been implemented with the approval of the Competent 
Authority.

11.	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

	� ITPO has constituted a CSR Committee, as per the DPE guidelines and the Companies Act, which reviews the CSR 
activities. The CSR initiatives/activities will be implemented with the approval/monitoring accordingly. The detailed 
policy about CSR initiatives of ITPO is available at http://www.indiatradefair.com/csr.php 

	� ITPO has been an active contributor towards the welfare of various communities under its CSR initiatives. For the year 
2023-24, ITPO contributed  the available fund of Rs. 73 lakh one third each towards the 3 funds as listed in Schedule 
VII of the Companies Act, 2013 i.e PM CARES Fund, Swachh Bharat Kosh and Clean Ganga Fund.
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Annexure-VII 
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Annexure-VIII 

INDIA TRADE PROMOTION ORGANISATION
(A Govt. of India Enterprise)

ITPO Office, Bharat Mandapam, New  Delhi – 110 001

Tele : 011-23371540, 23371491, Fax : 011-23371492

E-mail : info@itpo.gov.in; Website : www.indiatradefair.com

DECLARATION

	 As per DPE guidelines on Corporate Governance for CPSE’s, this is to confirm that all Board Members and 
Senior Management personnel have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct of the Company for the 
Financial Year 2023-24.

Sd/-
 (Pradeep Singh Kharola)

Chairman and Managing Director

Place : New Delhi
Dated : 06.04.2024
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Annexure- X

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT

Industry structure, vision and mission

India Trade Promotion Organisation (ITPO) is the premier trade promotion agency of India, providing a broad spectrum of 
services to trade and industry, and acting as a catalyst for growth of India’s trade.  The main objectives of ITPO are:

	� To promote external and domestic trade of India in a cost-effective manner by organizing and participating in 
international trade fairs in India and abroad; by organizing buyer-seller meets and contact promotion programmes 
abroad; by conducting overseas market surveys, exchanging and coordinating visits of business delegations, and by 
undertaking need based research to facilitate trade in specific sectors/markets;

	 To support and assist small and medium enterprises to access markets both in India and abroad;

	 To disseminate trade information and facilitate E-commerce/trade;

	� To develop quality physical infrastructure, services and management so as to enable holding of trade promotion 
events such as conventions and trade exhibitions of international standard; and

	� To enlist the involvement and support of the State Governments, other government trade promotion agencies, trade 
and industry associations in trade promotion of India’s external and domestic trade.

With its Headquarters at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi and regional offices at Chennai, Kolkata and Mumbai, ITPO ensures 
representative participation of trade and industry from different regions of the country in its events in India and abroad.

Vision

To be a leader amongst world class trade promotion organizations, leveraging India’s strengths internationally.  To achieve 
rapid growth in India’s share in global trade and investments, enhance quality of our services and customer satisfaction to 
drive the organization to success.

Mission

To promote, facilitate, encourage and coordinate various activities and programmes to enhance India's share of export 
through trade in goods and services.

As per the Memorandum & Articles of Association, the Company is under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013, and no 
dividend is payable. Therefore, the excess of income over expenditure has been carried forward to the Reserve and Surplus 
Account for the utilization of the same in furtherance of its objectives.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The operations of the Company for the period ended on  31st March, 2024, have yielded a surplus of Rs. 168.01 crores 
against surplus of Rs. 229.99 crores (Recast as per Ind-AS) for the fiscal year 2022-23. The total income generated during 
2023-24 is Rs. 670.38 crores compared to Rs. 430.92 crores (Recast as per Ind-AS) in the preceding year 2022-23.

SWOT

ITPO has its own exhibition ground at a prime location having State-of-the-art Exhibition Halls and other Convention/ 
Conference facilities.It has a team of Professional and experienced officers of various disciplines like Engineering, Architect, 
Design, Fairs, etc. for organizing B2B and B2C fairs/exhibitions on national/international standards.ITPO has 40 years of 
experience in industry with rich exposure in various trends and requirements.ITPO has a wide network with Ministries like 
MEA, other TPOs and it is the only Govt. PSU with a back up of various Govt. agencies / departments, thereby providing 
confidence among the participants. Due to restriction by govt. policies, there are limitations on the ground’s Multi-use. 
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Further, the company has to adhere the objective of Section 8 Companies i.e. not to maximize profit. The Company faces 
Competition from private organizers and substantial change in Government Policies

Future Outlook

ITPO's mega project of redevelopment of Pragati Maidan into a world-class iconic landmark i.e. the International Exhibition 
and Convention Centre (IECC) has been completed.

The Complex will be a landmark spot in Delhi and a unique symbol of New India in sync with India’s aspirations of becoming 
a global super power. Phase-I comprises of Convention Centre, Exhibition Halls, Basement Parking and Administrative 
Block (approx..3.82,248 sq.mtr. of built-up area). Traffic solutions are also a part of the project which provides easy access 
to the complex and decongest traffic in and around Bharat Mandpam.

The total built up area of the Convention Centre is 53,399 sq.mtr. with 7,000 seating capacity in single format, more than 
5 times the size of Vigyan Bhawan (Plenary Hall -3000 seating capacity, Multi-Function Hall-4000 seating capacity), and an 
Amphitheatre with 3000 seating capacity. It will be a 32.4-meter-tall landmark building on par with the best in the world. 
It has 25 meeting/seminar rooms of different sizes and special lounges as per the requirements of international/Summit 
level meetings like G-20, etc. The Convention Centre, named as "Bharat Mandapam” has been inaugurated by Hon'ble 
Prime Minister.

Basement parking for 4800 Equivalent Car Units (ECUs) with built up area of 1,68,305 sq.mtr. is being developed with Car 
Parking Management System for smooth functioning of inward and outward vehicular movements during exhibitions. 

The infrastructure including the Convention Centre has hosted the G20 Summit in September, 2023. The newly developed 
exhibition halls and the Convention Centre will fill critical gaps in requirements for MICE (Meetings, Incentives, Conferences 
and Events) sector. An area of 3.70 acres has been earmarked for a five-star hotel at Bharat Mandapam, which will be an 
integral part of the modern complex.

The IECC project will definitely help improve nation's image in terms of availability of world class modern MICE infrastructure. 
Revenues and services of business sector in the Delhi-NCR region is likely to shoot up as many events may come to New 
Delhi from the East Asian region.

Internal control systems and their adequacy

Internal controls are continually evaluated by the Management and the Internal Auditors.  Findings from internal audits 
are reviewed regularly by the Management and corrective actions and control measures to maintain proper accounting, 
monitoring of various operations are followed wherever required.

Internal Financial control systems and their adequacy

The Board has adopted policies and procedures for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including 
adherence to the company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial disclosures.

Material developments in human resources, industrial relations

Your company, being in the service industry believes that human resources are the critical assets. The company duly 
recognizes the talents of the employees and encourages sharing of knowledge between experienced manpower and 
young group. The Company provides various skill development training to its employees in-house and outside trainings 
nominating for various workshops and seminars etc. Employees opted VRS which was in operational.

Environmental protection and conservation, technological conservation, renewable energy development. 

Your company is a non-manufacturing company. However, ITPO is very much concerned about the environment and 
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the conservation of energy and resources like water, power etc. All the care has been taken in respect of environment 
protection regulations in the redevelopment project.

Risk Management 

Your Company regularly analyses the risks related to its operations and all steps were taken to manage & mitigate the 
known risks by insurance & other means. HoDs have been advised to bring any risk/potential risk to the attention of 
management.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is a continuing commitment by businesses to operate ethically and contribute to 
economic and social development while improving the quality of life of the workforce and their families as well as of the 
local community and society at large.

At ITPO, the thrust of CSR and Sustainability is on capacity building, empowerment of communities, inclusive and socio-
economic growth, environment protection, promotion of green and energy efficient technologies, development of 
backward regions, and uplift-ment of the marginalized and under-privileged sections of the society.

The Statements in this Management Analysis and Discussion Report describing the Company’s performance may be 
forward looking within the meaning of applicable laws and regulations. Depending upon the various Government policies 
and the prevailing economic conditions, results may differ from those expressed or implied herein. 

***
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India Pavilion at Spring Fair, Birmingham (UK)

India Pavilion at Summer Fancy Food Show, 2023 held at New York, USA
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The inauguration  of 37th India International Leather Fair (IILF), February, 2024 held  
at Chennai Trade Centre, Chennai.

Hon'ble Union Minister of Commerce & Indstry, Shri Piyush Goyal at 'Bharat Mobility'  
Exhibition at Bharat Mandapam
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ACCOUNTS
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STANDALONE
ACCOUNTS
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NOTES TO STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2024 (Contd.)

 (Rs. in Lakhs) 
Particulars  As at

April 1 
 Amount utilised/ 

reversed during 
the year 

 Provision 
made during 

the year 

 As at
March 31 

Movement of loss allowance (2023-24):
Provision for doubtful loans                90.77                          -                0.23                   91.00 

Movement of loss allowance (2022-23):
Provision for doubtful loans                90.37                          -                0.40                   90.77 

 (Rs. in Lakhs) 
15 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(Unsecured, considered good unless stated otherwise)
 As at 

March 31, 2024 
 As at 

March 31, 2023 
Grant recoverable from Government of India:

Considered good 372.84            339.68           
Considered doubtful 583.01            583.01           
(Less): Provision for doubtful recovery of Grant (583.01)           372.84               (583.01)         339.68               

Inter-corporate deposits (placed with NBFCs) -                         1,000.00            
Interest accrued on Saving bank accounts & term deposits 725.81               783.86               

Sundry Deposits:
Considered good 1.00                0.14               
Considered doubtful 4.65                4.65               
(Less): Provision for doubtful deposits (4.65)               1.00                   (4.65)             0.14                   

Due from parties in respect of deposit works:
Considered good                59.78 59.77             
Considered doubtful                70.15              70.15 
(Less): Provision for doubtful dues (70.15)             59.78                 (70.15)           59.77                 

1,159.42            2,183.45            

 (Rs. in Lakhs) 
Particulars  As at

April 1 
 Amount utilised/ 

reversed during 
the year 

 Provision 
made during 

the year 

 As at
March 31 

Movement of loss allowance (2023-24):
Provision for doubtful recovery of Grant              583.01                          -                      -                 583.01 
Provision for doubtful deposits                  4.65                          -                      -                     4.65 
Provision for doubtful dues                70.15                          -                      -                   70.15 

Movement of loss allowance (2022-23):
Provision for doubtful recovery of Grant              470.95                          -            112.06                 583.01 
Provision for doubtful deposits                  4.65                          -                      -                     4.65 
Provision for doubtful dues                70.15                          -                      -                   70.15 

 (Rs. in Lakhs) 
16 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

(Unsecured, considered good unless stated otherwise)
 As at 

March 31, 2023 
 As at 

March 31, 2023 
Advances to vendors

Considered good 4,967.53         1,011.42        
Considered doubtful (Refer Note 16.1) 99.14              103.79           
(Less): Provision for doubtful advances (99.14)             4,967.53            (103.79)         1,011.42            

Others
Deposit under protest with PF Authority [Refer Note 35.1(a)] 100.00            100.00           
GST Credit 2,211.89         2,399.27        
Prepaid expenses 558.43            661.41           
Deferred Payroll expense 37.14              2,907.46            7.69               3,168.37            

7,875.00            4,179.79            
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ITPO's team at Anuga Food Fair, Colonge (Germany)

CSR contribution of ITPO to Clean Ganga Kosh as CSR for the year 2023-24
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India Pavilion at Beauty World Expo, 2023, Dubai (UAE)
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CONSOLIDATED
ACCOUNTS
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13 BANK BALANCES OTHER THAN CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS (Rs. In Lakhs)

27,165.76                  52,803.74                   

Unspent CSR Account 17.72                          31.87                           
Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA)- (Refer Note 13.1) 2,833.35                    1,167.75                      
Deposit for hedging foreign currency risks 2.22                            2.09                             
Deposits-Banks (Original Maturity>12 Months) -                              

30,019.05                  54,005.45                   
13.1

13.2

14 LOANS (Rs. In Lakhs)

Loan/ Advances to Employees (including accrued interest) (Refer Note 14.1)
Loan Receivables considered good – Secured 28.83                          31.67                           
 Unsecured:
Loan Receivables considered good – Unsecured 189.50 161.06
Loan Receivables – which have significant increase in credit risk 91.00 90.77
Loan Receivables – credit impaired
(Less): loss allowance (91.00)               189.50 (90.77)                161.06

218.33                       192.73                         
14.1 Loans to Employees includes dues from:

 Directors / Ex-Directors -                                 -                                   
 Officers in the nature of loan 2.89                           2.66                             

(Rs. in Lakhs)
Particulars  As at

April 1 
 Amount utilised/ 

reversed during the 
 Provision made 
during the year 

 As at
March 31 

Movement of loss allowance (2023-24):
90.77                                                   -                     0.23                            91.00 

Movement of loss allowance (2022-23):
90.37                                   -                     0.40                            90.77 

15 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Unsecured, considered good unless stated otherwise) (Rs. In Lakhs)

Grant recoverable from Government of India
Considered good 372.84               339.69                
Considered doubtful 583.01               583.01                
(Less): Provision for doubtful recovery of Grant (583.01)             372.84                       (583.01)              339.69                         

Inter-corporate deposits (placed with NBFCs) -                              1,000.00                      
Security Deposits 18.37                          18.37                           
Due from Indian Missions Abroad -                              -                               
Interest accrued on saving bank accounts & term deposits 867.99                       1,080.48                      
Receivable from TIDCO 3.38                            3.35                             
Remittances -                              -                               

Sundry Deposits:
Considered good 1.00                   0.14
Considered doubtful 4.65 4.65
Less: Provision for Doubtful Sundry Deposits (4.65)                 1.00                            (4.65)                  0.14                             

Due from parties in respect of deposit works:
Considered good 59.77                 59.77                  
Considered doubtful 70.15                 70.15                  
(Less): Provision for doubtful dues (70.15)               59.77                          (70.15)                59.77                           

1,323.35                    2,501.80                      

Exposure to foreign currency risks of the company may be referred at Note 39.27(II)(a)(i).

Total

Particulars

Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) is maintained for the loan raised for financing the Capital projects to cover the interest service.

 As at March 31, 2023  As at March 31, 2024 Particulars
Term deposits with banks having original maturity of more than 3 
months but less than 12 months

Total

Provision for doubtful loans

Provision for doubtful loans

Particulars

Total

As at March 31, 2023

 As at March 31, 2023 

As at March 31, 2024

 As at March 31, 2024 
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(h)

39.16 EXPANSION PROJECT OF CHENNAI TRADE CENTRE (CTC)- TNTPO

39.17 Project of a 5-star hotel at Pragati Maidan - ISL

All new Halls (except Hall no. 1), Convention Centre and Tunnel costing Rs. 2,35,628.91 lakhs (net) have been transferred to PPE (Note 3A) from
CWIP as on 31.3.24. Balance expenditure incurred for IECC project amounting to Rs. 22120.84 lakhs up to 31.03.2024 (Rs.1,75,901.03 lakhs up to
31.03.2023) is appearing in CWIP. In addition, advance of Rs. 1829.96 lakhs (previous year: Rs. 8,215.38 lakhs) paid to various Departments/
agencies for the project has been shown as Capital Advances in Note. 9. Consequently, against the approved cost of Rs 2,69,851 lakhs, the
balance amount of Rs. 9995.74 lakhs is shown as Capital Commitments for the project in Note No. 39.1.

The Expansion project of CTC has been approved by Hon'ble Commerce and Industry Minister as recommended by SFC, Department of
Commerce, New Delhi vide letter No.2(2)/2017-TP section dated 21.08.2018. Subsequently the revised sourcing of funds was decided as Rs.
14000 lakhs from internal accruals, Rs. 2000 lakhs from TIES grant, Government of India and Rs.14900 lakhs term loan from Financial Institution,
totalling Rs. 30900 lakhs. 

E-Tender was floated for expansion project on 23.01.2020. The technical evaluation was also completed and price bid was opened on 24.03.2020.
Further, the work was awarded to L1 Contractor M/s.NCC Ltd, Telangana to the contract value of Rs.308.75 crore. The construction work has
been started on 25.09.2020 by M/s.NCC Ltd and the work is in progress. The extended date of completion of project is 25.10.2023 as approved by
the Board in its 67th meeting of Board of Directors held on 30.06.2022 . During 2023-2024 the project has attained the significant progress in
terms of Physical -97% and Financial-81% respectively. The project's extended date of completion is 31.03.2024 as approved by the Board in its
73rd meeting held on 19.03.2024.Due to delay in sanction of additional term loan of 53Cr due date to complete the project may be extended up
to 31st August 2024.

During January 2024, though some specified events were organised in that new premises but it is not available in a regular manner to organize
the events. As per para 55 of IND AS 16 depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use i.e., when it is in the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the management. Since the asset is not capable of being operated in the
manner intended by the management, asset which was put to use not capitalised partially, the receipts of Rs.8,85,58,054/- towards events held
at the building were considered as a trial run receipt in accordance with para 17(e) of IND AS 16, which says that any Income generated during
the Trial Run needs to be offset against the cost of the asset. Due to additional works and additional Items cost to the contractor has come to
Rs.384.90Cr, Other additional works(Construction of compound Wall, Storm Water Drain and Road Works, Supply of DG sets (Perfect House Pvt
Limited) and Landscaping Work(Sree Amman Logistics) have been approved by the board in its 72nd and 73rd meeting. To pay to the vendors,
TNTPO required additional funds of Rs.5300Lakhs to complete the project in all aspects.

The Cabinet Committee on Economic Affairs (CCEA) in its meeting held on 4th December, 2019, approved the monetization of 3.70 acres of land
at Pragati Maidan on a 99-year fixed lease basis in favour of a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) to be formed for development and operation of a 5-
star hotel at Pragati Maidan. On the direction of Hon'ble Commerce & Industry Minister in line of the Cabinet directives, the SPV in the name &
style of 'ITPO Service Limited' was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of ITPO with the key purpose of developing and managing a 5 star hotel
through a suitable Developer-cum-Operator under a long term concession agreement.

ITPO was authorized to initiate action on behalf of proposed SPV (till its formation) for the preparation, finalization and issue of a Request for
Proposal (RFP), prepared by MSTC, for selecting a suitable developer and operator to construct, run and manage the hotel at Pragati Maidan
through a competitive bidding process.

The RFP was issued on 28.02.2020 through MSTC with due date for submission of online bids of 23.03.2020 and extended to 31.8.20 from time to
time. However, no bid was received by the due date due to crisis in the industry caused by the COVID pandemic. The process for the monetisation
of land has been reinitiated by ITPO under directions of Department of Commerce.

The Board of Tamil Nadu Trade Promotion Organisation (TNTPO) in the 48th Board meeting held at New Delhi on 24.11.2016 approved the
expansion of TNTPO for the total project outlay of Rs.28900 lakhs. The salient features of expansion of TNTPO include additional rentable
exhibition area of 15,700 sq. mtrs and total Car Parking facility of 2940 cars, besides creation of other facilities like Utility building, Restaurant,
Integrated Building Management System, Lifts & Escalator facilities etc.

Subsequently the Board of TNTPO in its 55th Board meeting held at New Delhi on 30.04.2019 has approved the revised design for the expansion
project of Chennai Trade Centre without basement covering the rentable area of 20,322 sq. mtrs with car parking facility having 1260 cars with
ground floor and first floor of exhibition hall, Convention Centre, meeting rooms, business centre with separate multi level car parking(MLCP) as
suggested by Standing Finance Committee of DOC, Government of India.

TIES grant of Rs.2000 Lakhs has been sanctioned and first instalment of Rs. 1000 lakhs was released by Department of Commerce, Government of
India, vide letter No. F.No.K-46012/7/2017–States Cell dated 06.11.2017. The same has been disclosed under Other Non-Current Liability (Note
No.24) as Govt Grant received from TIES for the expansion project of CTC.  
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Hon'ble Prime Minister of India, Shri Narendra Modi at the Launch of 
Global Biofuels Alliance during G-20 Summit at Bharat Mandapam, New Delhi
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